

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

CHARACTERIZATION OF KENYAN COMMON BEAN (*PHASEOLUS VULGARIS* L.) ACCESSIONS FOR RESISTANCE TO COMMON BACTERIAL BLIGHT USING START CODON TARGETED (SCOT) POLYMORPHISM MARKERS

MAKUNJA ROSELYDIAH NASIPWONDI (BSc)

Registration No.: H56/87206/2016

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Master of Science in Biochemistry of the University of Nairobi

February, 2020

DECLARATION

I Roselydiah Nasipwondi Makunja declare that this thesis is my original work and has not been presented for award of a degree in any other University.

Registration No.: H56/87206/2016

Signature..... Date.....

Supervisors

We confirm that this thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as University

supervisors

Dr. Evans N. Nyaboga

Department of Biochemistry, University of Nairobi

Signature..... Date.....

Dr. Ezekiel O. Mecha

Department of Biochemistry, University of Nairobi

Signature..... Date.....

Dr. Edward K. Muge

Department of Biochemistry, University of Nairobi

Signature......Date.....

DEDICATION

It is my genuine gratefulness and warmest regard that I dedicate this work to the Almighty God, for enabling me to achieve this milestone without whom, I would not have managed. I also dedicate this thesis to my Supervisors, Dr. Evans Nyaboga, Dr. Ezekiel Mecha and Dr. Edward Muge, my father, Mr. Charles Makunja, my mother, Mrs. Doris Mulupi and Mrs. Sandra Kabagenyi, my grandfather Mr. Joseck Mulupi and my grandmothers Mrs. Bilha Mulupi and Mrs. Mactilda Akumu Makunja, my siblings, Fidel Makunja, Aristotle Makunja, Kevin Mulupi and Peris Mulupi

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I wish to sincerely acknowledge my supervisors, who have been my inspiration and great mentors. Dr. Evans Nyaboga, my sincerest gratitude to you, for your unwavering support and patience with me during this time, for the uncountable consultations I made in your office, for your patience in going through my work, guiding me and your input every step of the way, for facilitating my needs in the laboratory and ensuring that I achieved my objectives, words will never be enough to express my gratitude to you, Sir. To Dr. Edward Muge, my heartfelt gratitude goes out to you, for your unwavering and immense support towards the realization of this project, for taking time off your busy schedule and going through my work meticulously and giving your input and for your kind mentorship and profound advice during this period. Dr. Ezekiel Mecha, thank you for your great mentorship during this journey, for the support that led me to this project and for your constant inquiry on my progress, this indeed pushed me to work harder, my warmest gratitude to you Sir.

To my loving Father, Mr. Charles Makunja, your unwavering support, selflessness and determination to see me through is unfathomable. You have been the greatest inspiration to complete this work, thank you for pushing me when I slaked, for without your continuous encouragement, I would not have reached this far. Thank you for your support both financially and emotionally and for your continuous advice, I will eternally remain grateful to you dad. To my Lovely mother Doris Mulupi, your endless prayers and encouragement kept me going through this project; my gratitude goes out to you. To Mrs. Sandra Kabagenyi, you have been a great encouragement and you ensured a conducive environment for me, I will be forever grateful to you. To my siblings, Fidel, Aristotle, Kevin and Peris, in your own ways you made this work possible, I wish to sincerely thank all of you. To my friends who helped me in one way or the other, my warmest gratitude to you.

DECLARATIONii
DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiv
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES ix
LIST OF ABREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMSx
ABSTRACTxiii
CHAPTER ONE1
1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background to the study1
1.2 Problem statement
1.3 Justification of the study7
1.4 Objectives
1.4.1 General objective9
1.4.2 Specific objectives
1.5 Null hypothesis
CHAPTER TWO 11
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW 11
2.1 Origin, distribution and description of common beans
2.2 Economic importance of common beans 12
2.3 Constraints to common bean production in Kenya14
2.3.1 Common bacterial blight (CBB) 15
2.3.1.1 Symptoms of common bacterial blight 17
2.3.1.2 Source of bacterial inoculum, transmission and plant infection
2.3.1.3 Management of common bacterial blight 19
2.4 Molecular markers and their use in crop diversity and genetic improvement of crops 21

2.4.1 Use of start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism marker	23
2.5. Plant response to diseases	25
CHAPTER THREE	27
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
3.1 Plant materials	27
3.2 Planting of common bean seeds in plastic pots in the glasshouse	29
3.3 Determination of genetic diversity of common bean accessions using SCoT markers	s 29
3.3.1 Genomic DNA extraction	29
3.3.2 DNA quantification and quality assessment	30
3.3.3 SCoT- PCR amplification	31
3.3.4 Scoring of amplified DNA bands and statistical data analysis	34
3.3.5 Population structure analysis	34
3.4 Screening common bean accessions for common bacterial blight resistance	35
3.4.1 Isolation of bacteria from infected leaves of common bean plants	35
3.4.2 Evaluation of common bean accessions for resistance to CBB	36
3.4.3 Bacteria quantification in leaves of inoculated plants	37
3.4.4 Analysis of biochemical parameters in CBB-resistant and susceptible conbean accessions	nmon 37
3.4.4.1 Determination of lipid peroxidation	37
3.3.4.2 Estimation of total phenolic compounds (TPC)	38
3.4.4.3 Assay of antioxidant enzyme activities	39
CHAPTER FOUR	40
4.0 RESULTS	40
4.1 Molecular characterization of common bean accessions using SCoT primers	40
4.1.1 Polymorphism and diversity parameters revealed by SCoT markers	40
4.1.2 Similarity coefficient among the 30 common bean accessions	44
4.1.3 Cluster analysis	46
4.1.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)	47
4.1.5 Population structure	48

4.1.7 Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA)5	1
4.2 Screening of 20 selected common bean accessions for resistance to CBB	1
4.3 Biochemical analyses in resistant and susceptible common bean accessions	5
4.3.1 Estimation of malondialdehyde (MDA) content	5
4.3.2 Determination of total phenolic content	6
4.3.4 Antioxidant enzyme activities	7
4.3.4.1 Peroxidase activity	8
4.3.4.2 Catalase activity	8
4.4 Unique bands revealed by SCoT markers among the assessed 30 common bea accessions	in 9
CHAPTER FIVE	1
5.0 DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	1
5.1 Discussion	51
5.2 Conclusions	i8
5.3 Recommendations	8
REFERENCES	0'

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Identity and seed characteristics of the common bean accessions characterized using
SCoT markers
Table 2: Descriptions of the 17 SCoT primers used in the study
Table 3: Amplification and polymorphism parameters of common bean accessions revealed by
SCoT markers
Table 4: Pairwise genetic similarity among 30 common bean accessions as revealed by 17 SCoT
primers
Table 5: Description of the distribution of 30 common bean accessions in the dendrogram and
their respective sites of collection
Table 6: Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) based on SCoT markers for 30 common
bean accessions
Table 7: Common bacterial blight disease severity and rating of the 20 common bean accessions54
Table 8: Unique bands amplified using SCoT primers and the ID of the associated common bean
accessions

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Symptoms caused by CBB on different parts of the bean plant
Figure 2: Electrophoresis gel image of PCR amplicons using SCoT 23 and SCoT 34 for common bean accessions
Figure 3: Dendrogram of 30 Kenyan common bean accessions obtained from 17 SCoT markers polymorphisms using UPGMA
Figure 4: Principal component analysis (PCA) of 30 common bean accessions as revealed by 17 SCoT markers
Figure 5: Plot of delta K (Δ K) values obtained from the Structure analyses of 30 common bean accessions, obtained using Structure harvester
Figure 6: Population structure analysis of 30 common bean accessions for K=3 groups obtained by structure software V2.3.4
Figure 7: Symptoms of CBB on leaves of susceptible common bean plant at 21 days following <i>Xap</i> inoculation
Figure 8: Symptoms of CBB on pods of susceptible common bean plant at 21 days following <i>Xap</i> inoculation
Figure 9: Yeast glucose peptone agar (YPGA) plates for common bean plant leaf extracts infected with Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli
Figure 10: The content of malondialdehyde (MDA) in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with <i>Xanthomonas axonopodis</i> pv. <i>phaseoli</i> 56
Figure 11: The content of phenolic compounds in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with <i>Xanthomonas axonopodis</i> pv. <i>phaseoli</i>
Figure 12: Peroxidase (POD) enzyme activity in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with <i>Xanthomonas axonopodis</i> pv. <i>phaseoli</i>
Figure 13: Catalase (CAT) enzyme activity in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AFLP	Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism
AMOVA	Analysis of Molecular Variance
APX	Ascorbate Peroxidase
BCMNV	Bean Common Mosaic Necrosis Virus
BCMV	Bean Common Mosaic Virus
CAT	Catalase
CBB	Common Bacterial Blight
CFU	Colony Forming Units
DArT	Diversity Arrays Technology
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid
Est. Var	Estimated Variation
GAE	Galic Acid Equivalent
GD	Genetic Diversity
GERRI	Genetic Resources Research Institute
HT	Heterozygozity
Ι	Shannon Information Index
ISSR	Inter-Simple Sequence Repeat
ISTR	Inverse Sequence-tagged Repeats
MAS	Molecular Marker Assisted Selection
MB	Monomorphic Bands
MCMC	Markov Chain Monte Carlo Methods
MDA	Malondialdehyde
Ne	Effective Number of Alleles

OD	Optical Density
PAGE	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
PB	Percentage Bands per Loci
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PIC	Polymorphism Information Content
POD	Peroxidase
POX	Peroxidase gene markers
PVP	Polyvinylpyrrolidone
RAPD	Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA
RFLP	Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RP	Resolving Power
SCAR	Sequence Characterized Amplification Region
SCoT	Start Codon Targeted
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
SRAP	Sequence Related Amplified Polymorphism
SSR	Simple Sequence Repeats
TAB	Total Amplified Band
TBA	Thiobarbitric Acid
TBE	Tris/Borate/EDTA
TCA	Trichloroacetic Acid
TPC	Total Phenolic Content

UPGMA Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean

VNTR	Variable Number Tandem Repeat
Хар	Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. Phaseoli
YPG	Yeast Peptone Glucose
YPGA	Yeast Peptone Glucose Agar
YPG-CC	Yeast Peptone Glucose - Cephalexin and Cycloheximide
μΙ	Microlitre
μg	Microgram
w/v	Weight Per Volume
×g	Relative Centrifuge Force

ABSTRACT

Common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) is one of the most important legume crop used as a source of proteins, vitamins, and other beneficial nutrients among resource-poor populations in Kenya. However, common bean production is limited by several abiotic and biotic constraints. Common bacterial blight (CBB) disease caused by Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli (Xap) is among the most important biotic constraints affecting both seed quality and yield and has been reported to cause losses of up to 75%. Although the use of resistant varieties is the most effective method of CBB management, limited studies have been carried out to characterize common bean accessions for resistance to CBB using molecular markers. The aim of the present study was to characterize Kenyan common bean accessions using start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism markers for resistance to CBB. A total of 30 common bean accessions from farmers' fields in Nyanza and from the Genetic Resources Research Institute (GERRI) were used for molecular characterization. A set of 36 SCoT primers were tested of which 17 primers gave reproducible amplification which was further used for genetic diversity analysis. The 17 SCoT primers generated a total of 224 amplification bands, of which 95% were polymorphic. The mean Shannon information index (I), heterozygosity (HT) and gene diversity (GD) values were 1.28, 0.86 and 0.98, respectively, indicating that the common bean accessions were genetically diverse. Polymorphism information content (PIC) of SCoT markers ranged from 0.601 (SCoT 27) to 0.85 (SCoT 7) with a mean of 0.73 while values of resolving power (RP) ranged from 1.73 (SCoT 24) to 8.13 (SCoT 7) with a mean of 5.09. Such a range suggests that all the primers were informative. Pair-wise genetic similarity among the common bean accessions ranged from 0.26 (between chinchae LRC 08 KSI and GBK 036527, and between Chinchae LRC 08 KSI and GBK 030259) to 0.73 (between GBK 036523 and KAT X69) with a mean of 0.52. Cluster analysis based on the unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) and principal component analysis (PCA) showed high genetic variation among the accessions and grouped the common bean accessions into 2 main clusters. Population structure analysis using the Bayesian model-based approach grouped the accessions into 3 subpopulations and showed a high genetic admixture within the subpopulations. Results of the analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) showed a significant difference across accessions with a high within-population variation of 96%. Based on the clustering in the dendrogram, 20 accessions were selected and screened for CBB resistance in the glasshouse. Out of the 20 common bean accessions screened, 3 were resistant and were randomly distributed in the dendrogram. Three markers including SCoT 7, SCoT 24, 32 and SCoT 36 generated unique bands that were specific to accessions resistant to CBB, these markers can, therefore, be utilized in molecular assisted selection (MAS) for CBB resistance in common beans. Biochemical analysis of 2 resistant and 2 susceptible accessions to CBB, showed significantly higher concentrations of total phenolic compounds (TPCs) and catalase enzyme (CAT) activities in resistant accessions as compared to susceptible ones. The findings of the current study revealed that high genetic variation exists among the Kenya common bean accessions. In addition, CBB-resistant accessions exist within the Kenyan common bean germplasm, which can be exploited for common bean genetic improvement in breeding programs.

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background to the study

Common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) play a critical role in food, nutrition, and economic security in Kenya (Katungi *et al.*, 2010). The crop is grown by more than 3 million households in Kenya, making it the third staple food after maize and wheat (Katungi *et al.*, 2010; Muimui *et al.*, 2017). Common beans provide the much needed but affordable alternative source of protein as well as other nutritionally important compounds such as folic acids and carbohydrates. In Kenya, common bean is grown twice a year, due to its short production cycle, mostly inter-cropped with maize, sorghum, coffee, and potatoes, among other crops, thereby providing food while the other crops mature (Jones, 1999; Katungi *et al.*, 2010). Common beans also play a significant economic role, providing income to farmers through the sale of surplus produce (Jones, 1999; Katungi *et al.*, 2010).

In Kenya, common beans production is predominantly in Eastern, Nyanza, Central, Western and Rift valley regions of the country (Katungi *et al.*, 2010), the most popular varieties include; Rosecoco, Red Haricot, Mwitemania and Mwezi Moja (Katungi *et al.*, 2010). However, production in these regions is 0.7 t/ha (FAOSTAT, 2018), which is below the potential of 2 t/ha under controlled conditions (Mwang'ombe *et al.*, 1994). The poor production is attributed to several biotic and abiotic factors that the crop faces during its production. The chief abiotic factors include poor soil and drought (Kimani *et*

al., 2005b; Lunze *et al.*, 2012). On the other hand, biotic factors affecting common bean production in Kenya include; insect pests such as bean fly (*Melanogromyzaphaseoli coq.*), american bollworm (*Heliothis armgera hb.*), spotted borer (*Chilo partellus swinh.*), bean aphid (*Aphis fabae scop*) and bruchid (*Acanthoscelides obtectus Say*). The crop is also affected by various diseases, including; viral diseases namely *Bean common mosaic virus* (BCMV) and *Bean common mosaic necrosis virus* (BCMNV) (Kapil *et al.*, 2011; Mutuku *et al.*, 2016), fungal diseases such as anthracnose (*Colletotrichum lindemuthianum* (Sacc. and Magn.) (Pastor- Corrales, 2005; Kiryowa *et al.*, 2016; Anunda *et al.*, 2019) and bacterial diseases like common bacterial blight (CBB) (*Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*) (Wortmann *et al.*, 1998; Kimani *et al.*, 2005b; Belete and Bastas, 2017).

Common bacterial blight (CBB), is caused by a gram-negative bacteria, *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli* (*Xap*) and its variant, *Xanthomonas fuscans* subsp. *fuscans* (*Xff*). Common bacterial blight (CBB) is among the most devastating diseases facing global common bean production (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013; Belete and Bastas, 2017). Yield losses of up to 75% have been reported due to CBB disease in Kenya (Makini, 1995). Several methods, such as the use of certified pathogen-free seeds, copper-based bactericides, and crop rotation, have been used in the management of CBB disease (Duncan *et al.*, 2011; Ballette and Bastas, 2017). However, these methods are faced with significant challenges that limit their use; for instance, the use of bactericides is not environmentally friendly, and at the same time, costly for the resource-poor farmers (Balete and Bastas, 2017). On the other hand, certified pathogen-free seeds are often expensive, and therefore inaccessible to resource-poor farmers in the country, placing them at a disadvantage (Yearley, 2012). Therefore, farmers often reuse previously harvested seeds infected with CBB thus, contributing to the progression of the disease (Mkandawire *et al.*, 2004; Ballette and Bastas, 2017). Boersma *et al.* (2015) suggested that accessions with durable resistance to CBB offer the most promising long-term and economical means of management of the disease. In Kenya, common bean accessions such as, "Jesca," "MEX 142" and "VCB 81013" have been reported to elicit resistance to CBB disease (Wagara and Kimani, 2007).

Plants respond by activating several defense mechanisms to counter the effect of pathogen-associated stress and eliminate the pathogen. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) act as secondary messengers, thereby signaling the release of plant defense compounds against the pathogen; however, the accumulation of high amounts of ROS may be detrimental to the plant. Lipid peroxidation is an excellent indicator of the extent of cellular damage elicited by a pathogen on the plant and can be accurately estimated by measuring the malondialdehyde (MDA) content in the affected plant (Rosales *et al.*, 2012; Awan *et al.*, 2018). Disease resistant plants have an excellent mechanism in eliminating the invading pathogen and containing the level of ROS accumulation, thereby inhibiting cellular damage by ROS accumulation. This is achieved through enzymatic mechanisms such as induction of catalase (CAT) and peroxidase (POD) and non-enzymatic mechanisms such as total phenolic compounds (TPCs) which aid in scavenging and elimination of ROS, thereby relieving the plant of the ROS associated stress (Rosales *et al.*, 2012).

Genetic diversity is a fundamental requirement for adaptation of species to various environmental changes. Rich genetic diversity among species contributes to a high and wide natural distribution of these species and a robust environmental survival and evolutionary prospects (Liu et al., 2015). Traditionally, genetic diversity analysis in plants relied on observation of morpho-agronomic traits such as differences in growth habit, the color of the seeds, yield, among others. However, such methods are not based on gene expression and thus show low or no polymorphism, are affected by environmental changes, and analysis of large samples is nearly impossible (Li et al., 2014; Kouam et al., 2017). Thus, the information generated is inconclusive, unreliable and, of little use in many genetic diversity studies. These shortcomings can be bridged by the use of molecular markers, which are DNA fragments associated with specific regions within the genome (Idrees et al., 2014). These fragments can be used in accurate prediction of the presence of a particular trait within the genome or in highlighting the existing genetic differences within a population. The usefulness of a molecular marker depends on its reproducibility and specificity to the targeted trait (Jiang, 2013).

Molecular markers are broadly categorized into hybridization-, polymerase chain reaction (PCR)- and DNA sequence-based techniques according to the mode of detection (Govindaraj *et al.*, 2015). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based techniques are most popular since they are easy to use with a high throughput rate (Varshney *et al.*, 2007; Li *et al.*, 2013; Li *et al.*, 2014). Despite the benefits of PCR techniques, setbacks such as low consistency and multiplexing output in random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), high cost and multiple steps in simple sequence repeats (SSR) and long and numerous

steps in amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) have limited their use in most diversity studies (Li *et al.*, 2001; Li *et al.*, 2014). With shortcomings in the use of PCR markers, advances in molecular biology developed newer and superior alternative gene-targeted techniques, for example, start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism markers (Kouam *et al.*, 2017).

Start codon targeted polymorphism marker is a very sensitive and reproducible single primer technique based on the short conserved region of the ATG transcription start site of a gene in plants (Pakseresht *et al.*, 2013; Mahjbi *et al.*, 2015). It is linked to functional genes or regions surrounding these genes and their corresponding traits and requires no sequence information (Collard and Mackill, 2007; Pakseresht *et al.*, 2013; Mahjbi *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, SCoT markers have high resolving power (RP), and hence indicate higher polymorphisms in comparison to other common markers such as RAPD. No known study has been undertaken to elucidate the genetic diversity of Kenyan common bean accessions for resistance to CBB using SCoT markers. Therefore, in this study, SCoT markers were used to asses CBB resistance in common bean accessions grown in Kenya.

1.2 Problem statement

Common bean is susceptible to various viral, fungal, and bacterial diseases that affect both the yield and quality of seeds (Boersma *et al.*, 2015). In Kenya, CBB is among the major biotic constraints affecting common bean production, resulting to yield losses of up to 75% (Makini, 1995; Belete and Bastas, 2017). The disease is prevalent in all common bean growing areas in Kenya but more endemic in central, Nyanza and western regions of the country (Muthangya, 1982). Known strategies for management of CBB include the use of pathogen-free seeds, chemical applications and genetic resistance (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013; Belete and Bastas, 2017). The use of chemicals is environmentally unfriendly and expensive (Fininsa, 2003). On the other hand, certified disease-free seeds are inaccessible or too expensive for resource-poor farmers in the country; therefore, majority of common bean farmers in Kenya use previously harvested seeds for planting, which may be infected with the CBB disease thereby contributing to the progression of the disease (Okumu *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, the use of genetic resistance is the most appropriate, safe and cost-effective method of CBB management. However, there is limited information on the available common bean accessions resistant to CBB. With scarce data, efforts to improve common bean production in the country remain limited and the losses due to CBB increase, leading to a triple effect i.e., food, nutrition and economic insecurity.

Genetic characterization provides the key to unraveling disease-resistant accessions in the population. Genetic characterization of common beans has been widely undertaken by various studies including Singh *et al.* (1991) using allozymes, Kumar *et al.* (2008) using AFLP, Zargar *et al.* (2016) using RAPD and SSR, Velasquez *et al.* (1994) using restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), Svetleva *et al.* (2006) using inter-simple sequence repeat (ISSR), and Gyang *et al.* (2018) using SSR molecular markers. However, these markers are not gene-targeted and unable to highlight existing genetic differences that are linked to gene function.

1.3 Justification of the study

Common bean is the most important legume crop in Kenya because it is a good source of protein and essential minerals, providing quality nourishment to the resource-poor farmers. Per capita consumption of common beans is estimated at 14 kg per year in Kenya, with a high consumption of 66 kg/yr in the western region (Katungi et al., 2009). There has been a significant population growth in Kenya, translating to increased demand for food. On the other hand, common bean production in the country has not been keeping up with this trend. The production of the country remains below its maximum potential, while the production area has increased drastically from 689,377 ha in 2010 to 1,171,710 ha in 2016, there is negligible difference in production yield between the same years, (0.57 metric tons/ha in 2010 and 0.72 metric tons in 2016). Consequently, there has been an increase in the country's common bean import to meet the growing demands from 47, 764 in 2013 to 162, 719 metric tons in 2014 while exports have reduced from 7,264 in 2013 to 5,716 metric tons in 2014 despite the high production area in 2014 compared to the previous year (FAOSTAT, 2018). The poor yield of common bean production in Kenya can be attributed to some of the biotic constraints facing the crop, including CBB. Since the use of resistant accession is the only economically feasible solution in managing CBB disease (Duncan et al., 2011; Boersma et al., 2015), identification of resistant accessions of common beans in Kenya will be useful to smallholder farmers and in breeding programs. A high level of CBB resistance among local common beans will reduce yield losses, minimize dependence to bactericides and accelerate the uptake of an integrated disease management program (Popović et al., 2012).

Genetic diversity in common bean accessions is valuable in the conservation and breeding programs. The use of molecular markers in genetic diversity analysis and identifying Kenyan common bean accessions resistant to CBB would help in accelerating the time for the development of resistant accession with other superior agronomic traits. SCoT markers are highly polymorphic and are linked directly to gene function (Rajesh *et al.*, 2015) and, therefore, the use of these markers may highlight unique bands that may be directly linked to genes responsible for resistance to CBB in common bean. These markers may be used in breeding programs for fast and efficient genetic improvement of common bean.

The potential roles of plant phenolic compounds and defense enzyme activities in response to pathogen infection have been reported. Total phenolic compounds (TPCs) are toxic towards the invading pathogens and the quantities of TPCs in the plant are directly proportional to the tolerance levels of the plant towards the invading pathogen (Nicholson and Hammerschmidt, 1992). Defense enzymes such as POD and CAT are efficient ROS scavengers, thereby alleviating the damaging effect of ROS on the plant (Bindschedler *et al.*, 2006; Shahbazi *et al.*, 2010; Mahgoub *et al.*, 2015). It is hypothesized that the enzymatic activity responses would be different quantitatively in CBB-susceptible and resistant accessions of common bean, and the activities of these enzymes would be correlated with resistance to CBB. Therefore, an insight into the biochemical responses in common bean and *Xap* interactions would aid in the discrimination of CBB resistant and susceptible accessions.

1.4 Objectives

1.4.1 General objective

To characterize Kenya common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) accessions for resistance to common bacterial blight (CBB) using start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism markers.

1.4.2 Specific objectives

- To determine genetic diversity, variation and population structure of Kenyan common bean accessions using SCoT markers
- (ii) To screen Kenyan common bean accessions for resistance to CBB in the glasshouse
- (iii) To determine SCoT markers associated with CBB resistance in common bean accessions

1.5 Null hypothesis

- (i) There is no genetic diversity and variability in common bean accessions grown in Kenya
- (ii) There exist no common bean accessions resistant to CBB in Kenyan accessions.
- (iii) There are no SCoT markers associated with CBB resistance in Kenyan common bean accessions

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Origin, distribution and description of common beans

Common beans are annual plants from the order Fabales, Fabaceae family and genus *Phaseolus* L (OECD, 2016). They consist of nearly 80 cultivated and wild type varieties that originated from Latin America 7,000 - 8,000 years ago. Common bean accessions are divided into two major gene pools, namely; the Mesomerican and Andean gene pools (Asfaw *et al.*, 2009; Okii *et al.*, 2014). Andean gene pool is the predominant common bean accessions in Kenya. Common beans were established in Africa before the advent of the colonial era. In Eastern Africa, they were first introduced at the coast by the Portuguese traders in the 16th century and later on carried to the interior parts of the countries by Arab slave traders and Swahili merchants (Wortmann *et al.*, 2006; Mwaipopo *et al.*, 2017). Today, common bean accessions are produced throughout the tropical, sub-tropical and temperate climates/regions of the world. In Kenya, production is mainly by small scale farmers, in Western, Nyanza, Rift Valley, Eastern and Coastal regions of the country (Wortmann *et al.*, 1998; Katungi *et al.*, 2009).

Common bean is a diploid crop with a $2n=2\times=22$ chromosomal number and bears non-endospermic seeds that differ in both size and color. The cultivated forms of common beans are mainly herbaceous annuals with either indeterminate or determinate growth habits. Species with determinate growth pattern are preferred widely due to their short developmental cycle and their ability to adapt to different environmental conditions. Common beans have an epigeal germination period of 5 to 7 days (OECD, 2016). On germination, common beans initially have a tap-root system with lateral roots running down to 15 cm below the soil; the roots are later taken over by rhizobium bacteria resulting in an irregular root nodule (Graham and Ranalli, 1997; OECD, 2016).

Flowering in common beans takes 28 days among the non-climbing common bean accessions and 42 days or longer among the climbing accessions. Flowers borne are zygomorphic with bi-petal keel, ten stamens and multi-ovuled ovary that is largely self-pollinating and few but observed instances of cross-pollination. Most flowers produced are shed-off; however, low temperature or water stress leads to the abortion of young fruits and /or developing seeds (OECD, 2016). Common bean also have a largely varied maturation period, which can be as short as 60 to 65 days after planting among the first growing varieties used in areas with short growing cycles or as long as 200 days among the climbing varieties in cool upland areas (Graham and Ranalli, 1997; Katungi *et al.*, 2009).

2.2 Economic importance of common beans

Common bean is the most important and multifaceted legume grown and consumed worldwide due to its nutrition and economic value. It contributes about 65% of the total protein consumption and 32% of the total energy. Common beans are one of the principal staple foods in the Eastern and Southern parts of Africa, where they serve as an essential source of dietary protein and calories (Katungi *et al.*, 2009). They are grown for their green leaves which, are consumed as vegetables, the immature and dry seeds which are

consumed as canned or boiled, for the immature green pods used as vegetables and for the bean residues used as fodder for animals. The seeds form the most significant economic part of the bean plant, particularly in the developing countries due to their ease of storage and preparation, long storage life, as well as good nutrition properties (Katungi *et al.*, 2009).

In Kenya, common bean is the third staple food after maize and wheat, with an annual per capita consumption of 14 kg per person (Katungi *et al.*, 2010). Common bean also serves as an affordable protein alternative, rich in essential amino acids such as lysine and Tryptophan (Katungi *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, the crop is an excellent supplement to the country's carbohydrate-rich diet. Due to their short production cycle (Kimani *et al.*, 2014), common beans provide alternative food as other crops mature (Wortmann, 1998; Jones, 1999). Besides, the crop also generates foreign exchange to the country through export and income to small scale farmers who sell the crop to urban residents (Katungi *et al.*, 2009; Balete and Bastas, 2017).

Common beans offer significant health benefits due to their low cholesterol, triglycerides and fat content. They are also digested slowly and elicit a sustained increase in blood sugar levels. Moreover, common beans are rich in phytochemicals, antioxidants and flavonoids. These factors contribute significantly towards reducing the risk of common diseases such as cancer, diabetes as well as coronary heart disease (Leterme and Munoz, 2002; Katungi *et al.*, 2009; Messina, 2014). On the other hand, common bean also combats constipation, thus preventing risks of colon cancer (Romero-Arenas *et al.*, 2013).

Due to their innate ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen, common beans aid in enriching the soil with nitrogen and therefore reducing dependence on the commercial nitrogen fertilizer, which is expensive for the smallholder farmers, who are the major common bean producers in Kenya. Furthermore, common beans also serve as an excellent cover crop, hence preventing soil erosion (Wortmann *et al.*, 1998; Anunda *et al.*, 2019).

2.3 Constraints to common bean production in Kenya

Although common beans offer significant economic and nutritional value, they are faced with numerous biotic and abiotic constraints that negatively impact their yield. Abiotic constraints such as extreme drought conditions contribute to 50% of the observed decrease in crop yield in Kenya. Decreased moisture results in poor grain filling and reduced number of seeds per pod, leading to poor seed quality and reduced seed yield (Rodríguez De Luque and Creamer, 2014).

Besides the abiotic constraints, common bean production is also faced with several biotic constraints, particularly insect pests such as aphids; bruchids, pod borers and bean stem maggots that reduce the yield of the crop (Graham and Ranalli, 1997; Wortmann *et al.*, 1998). These insect pests also force farmers to sell the crops almost immediately after harvest at low prices resulting in high economic losses. Moreover, common beans are susceptible to various diseases that diminish their yield around the world. Some of the

most common diseases affecting common bean production in Kenya include fungal diseases such as bean root rot and bean stem maggot disease, angular leaf spot (*Phaeoisariopsis griseola* (Sacc.) (Wagara *et al.*, 2004; Leitich *et al.*, 2016) and anthracnose (*Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*) (Gathuru and Mwangi, 1999), Bacterial diseases such as common bacterial blight (CBB) (Wortmann *et al.*, 1998; Kimani *et al.*, 2005b; Belete and Bastas, 2017), halo blight (*Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *Phaseolicola*) and bean bacterial wilt (*Curtobacterium flaccumfaciens* pv. *flaccumfaciens*) and viral diseases such as *bean common mosaic virus* (BCMV) and *bean common mosaic necrosis virus* (BCMNV) (Kapil *et al.*, 2011; Mutuku *et al.*, 2016). Common bacterial blight (CBB) has gained significant attention compared to all the mentioned diseases because it is widespread, seed-borne transmitted, and results to significant yield and economic losses (Wortmann *et al.*, 1998; Belete and Bastas, 2007).

2.3.1 Common bacterial blight (CBB)

Common bean bacterial blight is a universal disease that affects the production of common beans globally. The disease is caused by *Xap* from the phylum Proteobacteria, class Gammaproteobacteria, order Xanthomonadeles, family *xanthomonadaceaea*, and genus *Xanthomonas*. It is an aerobic, non-spore forming, gram-negative and rod-shaped bacteria. When grown on glucose-containing media, *Xap* produces yellow, slimy and convex colonies due to the production of xanthan gum on the mucus, and this distinguishes it from its variant, which produces dark brown diffusible colonies on tyrosine containing media (CABI, 2008; Belete and Bastas, 2017).

Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. *phaseoli* alternate between three growth stages, the epiphytic, survival, and pathogenic stages. During the survival stage, the pathogen survives in the seed, organic matter or on volunteer and alternate perennial crops. It remains viable for extended periods (10 - 18 months) in these non-host organs (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013). In the pathogenic stage, the bacteria penetrates the tissue and exponential growth is also observed. A single infected crop is enough to cause severe damage to the uninfected crops in the field. On the other hand, the epiphytic stage is a symptomless period characterized by warm environmental conditions, with high humidity and rain, this period is essential for the multiplication and development of substantial populations that would initiate disease during optimum environmental conditions (temperature ranging between 28 °C and 32 °C) (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013; Belete and Bastas, 2017).

Common bacterial blight (CBB) contributes to significant losses in all common bean growing regions worldwide. In Kenya, yield losses of between 10 to 75% have been reported (Makini, 1995). The observed losses are associated with the lesions developed on common bean seeds by the *Xap* pathogens that reduce the seeds' quality, thereby negatively affecting their market value and hence significant economic losses to farmers. However, the damage is more pronounced when an infection occurs early in the plant's development stage, since the pathogen leads to reduced plant's translocation capacity and premature defoliation reducing the available photosynthetic area, leading to decreased number and size of common bean seeds and hence poor yield for farmers (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013; Belete and Bastas, 2017; CABI, 2018).

2.3.1.1 Symptoms of common bacterial blight

The symptoms due to *Xap* infection in common beans appear on various parts of the plant. They begin as water-soaked spots that later enlarge and merge with neighboring spots and become necrotic. On the leaves, the spots would be surrounded by a yellow zone (Fig. 1A) and severe necrosis on the leaves will lead to defoliation (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013). Infected pods will elicit water-soaked lesions with a central yellow or cream-colored bacterial colony; the lesions become sunken and form dark brown blotches (Harveson, 2009) (Fig. 1B). Pod infection leads to poor seed development resulting in seeds that are rotten or shriveled with circular and brownish-red spots, while in severe cases, the pods are shriveled and seedless (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013). Symptoms on seeds appear as yellow-brown spots that are randomly distributed around the seed or helium (Fig. 1C); these symptoms are visible, especially on light-colored common bean seeds (Karavina *et al.*, 2011). Severely affected seeds will be shriveled and elicit weak vigor and germination (Belete and Bastas, 2017).



Figure 1: Symptoms caused by CBB on different parts of the bean plant.

(A) Necrotic lesions and yellowing of bean leaf; (B) Water soaked and sunken circular spots on bean pods; (C) Brown spots on bean seeds (on the right). (Source: Akhavan *et al.*, 2013)

2.3.1.2 Source of bacterial inoculum, transmission and plant infection

Infected seeds are the primary source of Xap inocula, and the pathogen can remain viable for up to 30 years (CABI, 2018). When planted, these infected seeds result in the germination of seedlings with bacterial lesions on the cotyledons, primary leaves, and nodes (Singh and Miklas, 2015). Under optimum conditions, the bacteria will accumulate on the surface of the leaves, and they will be blown to the nearest healthy plants by agents of infection, including splashing and windblown rain as well as overhead irrigation. Insects and human beings are also agents of *Xap* transmission. Long-distance dissemination of CBB caused by *Xap* pathogen is aided by infected seeds that are carried and established over long distances (Akhavan *et al.*, 2013; Belete and Bastas, 2017).

The bacteria infects all the bean plant parts of the susceptible common bean, including; leaves stems as well as seeds (Singh and Miklas, 2015). The infection of common bean leaves occurs through natural openings such as the stomata or the hydathodes. Insects can also create wounds on the plant leaves, thus creating an optimum site for infection. Once inside, the bacteria invade the intracellular spaces multiplying rapidly to produce sufficient populations that would elicit infection symptoms as well as ooze out, causing secondary infection after 10 to 14 days (Karavina et al., 2011; Belete and Bastas, 2017; CABI, 2018). However, the pathogen accumulates more in the leaves and is spread faster systemically through vascular tissues in the CBB susceptible accessions than in resistant and partially resistant common bean accessions (Singh and Miklas, 2015). In the stem, the pathogen enters through the stomata of the hypocotyl and epicotyls. It then proceeds to the vascular elements where it builds up and eventually causes wilting of the plant through clogging of the vessel or disintegrating the cell wall. The bacteria in the vascular spaces may enter the developing pod and pass through to the seeds. Once in the seeds, the pathogen remains in the seed coat or cotyledons (Karavina et al., 2011; CABI, 2018).

2.3.1.3 Management of common bacterial blight

Current CBB management options include cultural methods (for example, use of pathogen-free seeds, sanitation, and crop rotation), use of chemicals and biocontrol methods (Balete and Bastas, 2017). However, several challenges face these management

methods. Although the use of pathogen free-seeds is one of the best CBB management option, inaccessibility and high costs associated with these seeds by the smallholder farmers in Kenya limits its wide application. On the other hand, chemicals are quite costly for smallholder farmers and also results in environmental pollution and degradation.

The use of CBB resistant common bean accessions is the most viable and economically feasible option in controlling the disease (Boersma *et al.*, 2015). Previous studies have observed CBB resistance in decreasing order from Tepary beans, scarlet runner, and common beans. However, there have been strategies to enhance CBB resistance in common beans by the introduction of resistant genes from other bean species through breeding. To this effect, common beans have been crossed with tepary beans, producing improved breeding lines and accessions such as HR67, VAX 3-6 and HR45 which elicited high levels of CBB resistance (Marquez *et al.*, 2007; Boersma *et al.*, 2015; Belete and Bastas, 2017). Research on these varieties has been initiated in other countries/regions such as North America and Canada (Boersma *et al.*, 2015). However, in Kenya, there exist limited studies on resistance to CBB in locally grown common beans. With the scarcity of this information, efforts to improve common bean production and reduce losses due to CBB in Kenya are limited.

2.4 Molecular markers and their use in crop diversity and genetic improvement of crops

Molecular markers reveal existing polymorphism in nucleotide sequences between different species arising due to mutations on DNA such as insertion, deletions, translocations, substitutions, and errors in replication of tandemly repeated DNA (Collard *et al.*, 2005). Available molecular techniques reveal these existing genetic differences, which are then visualized either on a chemical (e.g. Ethidium bromide) stained agarose gel electrophoresis as well as using radioactive or colorimetric probes or automated visualization (Collard *et al.*, 2005; Nadeem *et al.*, 2018). Molecular markers can be polymorphic, revealing differences between individuals of the same or different species or monomorphic, unable to distinguish between the species. Polymorphic markers can either be co-dominant or dominant based on their ability to distinguish between homozygotes and heterozygotes (Collard *et al.*, 2005).

Molecular markers are divided into three groups based on the method of detection. These are; hybridization-, PCR- and DNA sequence-based markers (Govindaraj *et al.*, 2015). For the hybridization-based markers such as Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP), polymorphism within the different species is observed in terms of differences in fragment lengths that is due to the molecular changes that occur on the DNA leading to absence or presence of a recognition site (Nadeem *et al.*, 2018). However, these markers are laborious and time-consuming and also require a lot of DNA (Garcia *et al.*, 2004).

The PCR-based markers such as AFLP, SSRs, and SCoT, amplify particular DNA regions and the amplified products are separated and detected by the use of gel electrophoresis. These techniques obviate the need for hybridization with radio-labeled tags and also save on time (Garcia *et al.*, 2004). The latest developments have resulted in third-generation markers like simple nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and diversity array technology (DArT) markers. These are markers with high-throughput performance and automated detection methods. They are based on the determination of the actual sequence of the DNA through sequencing methods such as pyrosequencing and next-generation sequencing and using automated systems to detect existing polymorphisms (Govindaraj *et al.*, 2015).

Molecular markers are applied in various studies, for instance in genetic diversity assessment in common beans using various molecular markers such as AFLP (Kumar *et al.*, 2008), SSR and RAPD (Zargar *et al.*, 2016), RFLP (Velasquez *et al.*, 1994) and Inter-Simple Sequence Repeats, (ISSR) (Svetleva *et al.*, 2006). Genetic diversity of a particular species gives information on the evolution and the comparative genomics of those species, thus helping in understanding population structure, evolutionary and phylogenetic relationships among and between species. Plant breeders also use molecular markers in the study of heterosis, after making crosses, in order to determine the performance of the progeny and elucidate the best parental crosses that bring forth superior progeny (Pheirim *et al.*, 2017)

Molecular marker-assisted selection (MAS) is a superior breeding technique whereby the selection of target breeding lines is carried out based on molecular markers linked to the trait of interest as opposed to the observation of particular traits, as in conventional breeding (Collard and Mackill, 2007). Molecular assisted selection is a time-saving alternative to traditional breeding methods that obviates the need to wait for the phenotypic expression of the desired trait. Moreover, molecular markers are immune to environmental changes and are detected in all stages of plant growth (Collard and Mackill, 2007). Various molecular markers have been used in MAS for the improvement of crops and selection of varieties that are resistant to biotic and abiotic factors. For example, microsatellite and sequence characterized amplified region (SCAR) markers were used in MAS for selection of resistance to cassava mosaic disease in cassava (Carmo et al., 2015). In common beans, SCAR markers have been used in MAS for the selection of resistance to BCMV and bean golden mosaic virus diseases (Blair et al., 2007). Other markers such as RAPD have also been applied in MAS for improvement of drought resistance in common beans (Schneider *et al.*, 1997)

2.4.1 Use of start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism marker

Start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism marker is a gene-targeted technique based on the nucleotide sequences at the translational start site ATG (Que *et al.*, 2014). They are 18-mer primers that differ from each other by at least one nucleotide. The difference occurs mostly at the 3'end, which is believed to control the primer-template specificity; however, the amplification profiles of these primers differ from each other significantly (Collard and Mackill, 2009). The SCoT marker technique detects the presence of both dominant and co-dominant markers (Nair *et al.*, 2016). They are easy to use and less expensive, resulting in wide applications in many laboratories with basic equipment (Zhang *et al.*, 2015).

Start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism marker was developed to improve and overcome the challenges associated with the use of RAPDs. As a result, they are highly reproducible compared to RAPD markers (Collard and Mackill, 2009). The SCoT markers can also be developed from transcribed regions and therefore, resultant markers may be linked to gene function (Que *et al.*, 2014). The amplified products can be converted to a gene-targeted marker system. Therefore, the SCoT marker is an efficient technique in genetic diversity analysis since it is gene-targeted and has low recombination levels compared to ISSR and RAPD. Besides, compared to other markers, SCoT has superior resolving capabilities with a high potential to detect polymorphisms (Zhang *et al.*, 2015; Etminan *et al.*, 2018).

Initial validation for the use of SCoT marker technique was performed in rice (*Oryza sativa*) (Collard and Mackill, 2009). Following this study, SCoT markers have been applied in various studies, for instance, Al-qurainy *et al.* (2015); Rajesh *et al.* (2015) and Etminan *et al.* (2016) used SCoT markers for genetic diversity analysis in date palms, coconut and wheat respectively. The SCoT makers have also been used in population structure analysis and ancestry determination in ramie (Satya *et al.*, 2015) as well as in
polymorphism analysis in sugarcane (Que *et al.*, 2014). However, the use of SCoT markers in common bean accessions remains undocumented.

2.5. Plant response to diseases

Infection of plants by invading pathogenic bacteria leads to the induction of the plant defense system due to the recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns by the plant's pattern recognition receptors (Silva-Gomes et al., 2014). Consequently, a sequence of biochemical events is initiated, leading to the expression of either susceptibility or resistance to disease by the plant (Chatterjee and Ghosh, 2008). The plant-pathogen interaction produces signals which activate defense associated genes, as a result, various plant defense mechanisms are activated, including accumulation of TPCs among other compounds that contribute to plant defense systems (Chatterjee and Ghosh, 2008). Thus based on the response of the plant to the invading pathogen, it can then be categorized as susceptible or resistant. Plant-pathogen interactions lead to a surge in ROS. Although ROS are secondary messengers during pathogen invasion, in high quantities, ROS can be toxic to the plant (Grotto et al., 2009). Accumulation of ROS leads to lipid peroxidation which produces MDA as one of its products. Malondialdehyde (MDA) can therefore, be used as a marker for cell membrane damage caused by ROS (Grotto et al. 2009). Detoxification of ROS may be achieved enzymatically or through non-enzymatic mechanisms (Sharma et al., 2012). Enzymatic detoxification involves enzymes such as CAT and POD, among others.

Peroxidase (POD) is one of the initial enzymes that provide first response and defense against the invading plant pathogens. This is achieved through ROS detoxification and enhancement of the plant's physical defense mechanisms, thereby strengthening its defense ability against the invading pathogen (Siddique *et al.*, 2014). On the other hand, CAT is an efficient oxygen-scavenging enzyme; it catalyzes the detoxification of H_2O_2 to water and hydrogen (Sharma *et al.*, 2012; Siddique *et al.*, 2014).

Phenolic compounds are predominantly involved in plant growth and development, as well as in defense mechanisms. These compounds serve as potent non-enzymatic antioxidants within the cell, they may act nonspecifically against the pathogen through disruption of the structural integrity of the bacterial membrane and specifically by inhibiting the bacterial enzymes involved in electron transport. Phenolic compounds also inhibit lipid peroxidation by stabilizing the membrane, thus limiting the diffusion of free radicals and reduce the peroxidation of membrane lipids (Kulbat, 2016). Also, phenolic compounds form part of the starting molecules required for the synthesis of lignin and suberin, which strengthens plant cell walls, thus preventing further entry of the pathogen and also containing the pathogen within the infected area (Kubalt, 2016).

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Plant materials

Thirty (30) pathogen-free and certified seeds of common bean accessions (Table 1) were used in the current study. Fourteen common bean accessions were obtained from the Genetic Resources Research Institute (GERRI) where they were preserved after collection from farmers' fields in the Nyanza region of Kenya in the year 1998. The other sixteen accessions were collected from farmers' fields in the Nyanza region in the year 2018.

Sample Id	Accession name	Place of sample collection	Weight in (g)	Color of seed	Seed size
3	KAT X69	Nyanza	0.54	Brown with white specks	Medium
7	GBK 036530	Genebank	0.18	Black	Small
8	GBK 030249	Genebank	0.25	Cream with black specks	Small
9	GBK 036524	Genebank	Not done	Not done	Data not available
19	GBK 036527	Genebank	0.42	Purple	Medium
21	GBK 030178	Genebank	0.29	Brown	Small
22	GBK 030259	Genebank	0.33	Cream with brown specks	Medium
25	GBK 036523	Genebank	0.41	Cream with brown specks	Medium
27	GBK 030171	Genebank	0.30	Brown	Small
28	GBK 0365328	Genebank	0.27	Black	Small
29	GBK 030217	Genebank	Not done	Not done	Data not available
30	GBK 030244	Genebank	0.41	Cream with brown specks	Medium
33	GBK 030227	Genebank	0.43	Brown with cream specks	Medium
35	GBK 030157	Genebank	0.40	Cream with brown specks	Medium
41	Ritinge LRC 20 KSI	Nyanza	0.60	Purple with white specks	Large
45	Osama LRC 23 KSI	Nyanza	Not done	Not done	Data not available
47	Emwamu LRC 22 KSI	Nyanza	0.25	Black	Small
48	Emwetemania LRC 04 KSI	Nyanza	0.24	Cream with brown Specks	Small
49	Girini LRC 05 KSI	Nyanza	0.47	Green	Medium
50	LRC 12 KSI	Nyanza	0.73	purple	Large
51	LRC 11 KSI	Nyanza	0.25	White	Small
53	Chinchae LRC 08 KSI	Nyanza	0.40	Black	Medium
54	Ekoko enyege LRC 15 KSI	Nyanza	0.41	Cream with red specks	Medium
55	Ekoko entabe LRC 24 KSI	Nyanza	0.53	Brown with red specks	Medium
56	Morogi LRC 21 KSI	Nyanza	0.21	Black	Small
58	Manoa LRC 16 KSI	Nyanza	0.81	Black with white specks	Small
60	Royoo LRC 09 KSI	Nyanza	0.20	Brown	Small
61	Makueni 1	Nyanza	0.12	White	Small
63	KAT B1	Nyanza	0.40	Green	Medium
64	GBK 030167	Genebank	0.28	Brown	Small

Table 1: Identity and seed characteristics of the common bean accessions characterized using SCoT markers

3.2 Planting of common bean seeds in plastic pots in the glasshouse

Experimental soil was obtained from the forest at the College of Biological and Physical Sciences (CBPS), the University of Nairobi, sterilized by autoclaving and allowed to cool overnight. Then plastic pots, 10 cm in diameter, were obtained. These pots were then clearly labeled using the names of common bean accessions and filled with sterile soil. Seeds of each accession were then established in triplicate in their respective labeled pots, covered with soil and watered. Thereafter, the seeds were watered fortnightly till germination. Three weeks after germination, the leaf samples were taken for DNA extraction.

3.3 Determination of genetic diversity of common bean accessions using SCoT markers3.3.1 Genomic DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from young leaves of three-week-old plants using cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) protocol, following the Chaudhary *et al.* (2008) method but with minor adjustments made to simplify the protocol and improve on the yield of the DNA. In this modified protocol, the fresh leaf samples were crushed in a CTAB buffer consisting of 1% CTAB powder, 5M NaCl, 1% polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), 1M Tris (pH 8.0), 0.5 M Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid (EDTA), 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS). The resulting homogenate was pipetted in a sterile microcentrifuge tube and incubated for 30 min at 65 °C in a water bath (Memmert, Germany). The mixture was then cooled down for 5 min at 25 °C and centrifuged for 10 min at 16060 Relative Centrifuge Force (×g), resulting in a multi-layered solution. The upper supernatant from the heterogeneous mixture was then pipetted into a sterile and labeled micro-centrifuge tube. Then an equal volume of chloroform: Isoamyl alcohol (24:1) was added to the supernatant, gently mixed, and allowed to settle for 5 min at 25

°C before centrifuging for 10 min at 16060 ×g, the resulting supernatant was pipetted into a labeled sterile micro-centrifuge tube. This step was replicated and an equal volume of ice-cold isopropanol was then added to the final supernatant and precipitated overnight at -21 °C. The precipitate was then centrifuged for 10 min at 16060 ×g. The supernatant was pipetted off leaving a clear pellet, 70% ethanol was added to the pellet and centrifuged for 10 min at 160160 ×g, the supernatant was pipetted off and the step repeated. Then the resulting pellet was air drying by inversion of the micro-centrifuge tube on a paper towel for 1 hr at 25 °C. The pellet was re-suspended in 50 µl double-distilled sterile water, followed by RNAse treatment for 1 hr at 37 °C to digest Ribonucleic acid (RNA).

3.3.2 DNA quantification and quality assessment

Agarose gel (1%) stained with ethidium bromide was prepared to determine the quality of the DNA. The preparation of this gel proceeded as follows; 1% agarose gel powder 1% (w/v) was weighed and dissolved in 100 ml tris /borate/EDTA (TBE). The mixture was microwaved for 3 min to boil and cooled to approximately 50 to 55 °C at 25 °C. After cooling, 0.6 μ g/mL of ethidium bromide stain was added; the mixture was then poured on a casting tray with well-fitted combs to solidify. The solidified gel was submerged in an electrophoresis tank containing 1× TBE buffer and the combs gently removed. Sample DNA was obtained, and from each sample, a volume of 3 μ l was obtained and mixed with 2 μ l of bromophenol blue dye on a flat sterile surface before pipetting the mixture onto the wells starting with the second well. The lambda DNA ladder (Thermo Scientific) was pipetted into the first well to estimate the DNA size. The gel electrophoresis was allowed to run for 45 min at 70 volts (V). The gel was visualized under anultraviolet (UV) transilluminator and captured using Redmi 4X camera.

Quantification of the DNA of each sample was assayed spectrophotometrically. From each extracted DNA, 5 μ l was obtained and diluted to 1000 μ l. The absorbance of each sample was taken at 260 and 280 nm. Thereafter, the concentration of each DNA was calculated following a formula described by Sambrook *et al.* (1989) while the A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ ratio determined the purity of each DNA sample.

DNA concentration= $OD_{260} \times 50$ (Dilution factor) $\times 50 \ \mu g/ml$

100

3.3.3 SCoT- PCR amplification

Thirty-six (36) SCoT primers synthesized by MACROGEN (Netherlands) were used. The protocol described by Agarwal *et al.*, (2018) was used. The optimum working conditions for each primer were determined (Table 2), the best primers that gave clear and unambiguous amplified bands were selected. The PCR was carried out in a 20 µl reaction volume containing 13 µl master mix $2\times$ PCR AccuPower PCR master mix (Taq buffer and polymerase, dNTPs, and MgCl₂) (Bioneer, USA), 0.8 µm of each of the SCoT primers, 2 µl (20 ng/ml) DNA sample and 3 ml sterile distilled water in a 200 µl PCR tubes. The PCR amplification was performed using the Applied Biosystems Veriti 96-well thermal cycler (Singapore). The PCR program was set at an initial denaturation temperature of 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 sec, annealing at 46-54 °C (depending on the primer used, Table 2) for 1 min, extention at 72 °C for 1 min, and final extension at 72 °C for 7 min and held at 4 °C till use. Agarose gel (1.5%) stained with 0.5 µg/mL Ethidium bromide in 1× TBE buffer was used to confirm the presence of amplified PCR products via electrophoresis. The electrophoresis was run at 80 V for 2 hrs 30 min. GeneRuler 1 kb Plus DNA Ladder (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used

to estimate the band sizes of the amplified PCR products. The resulting agarose gels were visualized and documented by Gel Doc XR system (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

Marker	Primer sequence	Amplicon size range (bp)	Annealing temperature (°C)	GC content
SCoT 4	CAACAATGGCTACCACCT	300-1000	48	50
SCoT 5	CAACA <u>ATG</u> GCTACCACGA	300-1500	46	50
SCoT 7	CAACA <u>ATG</u> GCTACCACGG	300-2500	46	55.6
SCoT 11	AAGCA <u>ATG</u> GCTACCACCA	350-2500	50	50
SCoT 14	ACGACATGGCGACCACGC	200-1800	54	66.7
SCOT 15	ACGAC <u>ATG</u> GCGACCGCGA	200-2000	52	66.7
SCoT 16	ACCATGGCTACCACCGAC	200-2000	51	61.1
SCoT 23	CACCATGGCTACCACCAG	350-3000	51	61.1
SCoT 24	CACCATGGCTACCACCAT	400-1500	51	55.6
SCoT 26	ACCATGGCTACCACCGTC	450-2000	51	61.1
SCoT 27	ACCATGGCTACCACCGTG	400-2000	46	61.1
SCoT 29	CCATGGCTACCACCGGCC	250-2000	51	72.2
SCoT 30	CCATGGCTACCACCGGCG	250-1600	54	72.2
SCoT 32	CCATGGCTACCACCGCAC	100-2000	51	66.7
SCoT 34	ACCATGGCTACCACCGCA	400-2000	51	61.1
SCoT 35	CATGGCTACCACCGGCCC	300-2500	53	72.2
SCoT 36	CGCAACA <u>ATG</u> GCTACCACC	200-1500	51	55.6

Table 2: Descriptions of the 17 SCoT primers used in the study

3.3.4 Scoring of amplified DNA bands and statistical data analysis

Only clear and distinct amplified bands on the gel image were scored visually as either present (1) or absent (0), generating a binary matrix data, which was used for subsequent data analysis. The summary of genetic parameters including total amplified bands (TAB), monomorphic bands (MB), percentage bands per loci (PB), RP, heterozygozity (HT), polymorphic information content (PIC), effective number of alleles (Ne), genetic diversity (GD) and shannon information index (1) were computed in PowerMarker V3.25 (Liu *et al.*, 2005). Pairwise genetic similarity and dissimilarity between different common bean accessions were determined by calculating Jaccard's dissimilarity coefficient. Unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) was used to assess the patterns of diversity among the common bean accessions using DendroUPGMA server (Garcia-Vallvé *et al.*, 1999) which was used in calculating matrix distances (Jaccard). A dendrogram was constructed using FigTree software V1.4.2 (Rambaut, 2009). Principal component analysis (PCA) and analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) for the common bean accessions were assessed using GenAlex V6.5 software (Peakall and Smouse, 2012).

3.3.5 Population structure analysis

The population structure evaluation of the 30 common bean accessions was achieved by STRUCTURE V2.3.4 software (Pritchard *et al.*, 2000) using data from 17 SCoT primers. Analyses were performed using admixture model assumptions with correlated alleles; the maximum number of population (K) subgroups were presumed to be between 2 and 10, and were selected after 10 independent runs. The burn-in period for each independent run was 5,000 steps followed by 50,000 Markov Chain Monte Carlo method (MCMC) replicates (Pritchard *et al.*,

2003). Structure harvester (Earl and Vonholdt, 2012) was used to collate the results obtained from STRUCTURE (Evanno *et al.*, 2005) and the maximum value of delta K (Δ K) associated with each K value was analyzed to identify the number of clusters that best described the data.

3.4 Screening common bean accessions for common bacterial blight resistance

Based on the dendrogram generated using data obtained from SCoT markers, 20 out of the 30 common bean accessions from each sub-grouping in the dendrogram were selected and screened for CBB resistance in the glasshouse.

3.4.1 Isolation of bacteria from infected leaves of common bean plants

Leaf samples of CBB infected common bean accessions were collected from farmer's fields in Nyanza region and used as a source of inoculum. The *Xap* pathogen was isolated the CBB infected leaf samples as follows; the leaves were sliced into small pieces and transferred to sterile centrifuge tubes. Then 5 ml liquid selective media consisting of; 1% yeast extract, 1% peptone, 1% glucose, 50 mg/l cephalexin and 150 mg/l cycloheximide (pH 7.0) (YPG-CC) was added to the macerated leaf samples. This was then incubated at 28 °C for 48 hrs, thereafter diluted serially to 10⁻³. An aliquot of 0.1 ml from the bacterial dilution was transferred to 1% yeast extract, 1% peptone, 1% glucose, 1.5% agar (pH 7.0) (YPGA) medium, supplemented with 50 mg/l cephalexin and 150 mg/l cycloheximide, and incubated at 28 °C for 48 hrs. Then a bacterial glycerol stock was prepared and stored at -80 °C till use.

3.4.2 Evaluation of common bean accessions for resistance to CBB

The *Xap* strain in the glycerol stock was revived by taking 10 µl of the bacterial glycerol stock into 15 ml in YPG medium (1% yeast, 1% peptone and 1% glucose), the mixture was incubated overnight at 25 °C. Then the bacteria was then streaked onto the YPGA medium and incubated at 25 °C for 24 hrs. A single colony was then inoculated in a YPG medium and incubated at 28 °C in a shaker at 2,800 rotations per minute (rpm) (Gallenkamp, UK) for three days. The liquid inocula were calibrated at OD $600_{nm} = 0.002$, corresponding to 10^6 colony forming units (CFU).

Three-week-old plants of each common bean accession were infected with *Xap* following the procedure by Alladassi *et al.* (2018). The plants were watered 4 hrs before inoculation. The third and fourth fully opened leaves were clipped with a razor blade and dipped in the bacterial solution for 30 sec. The inoculated plants were then covered with a polythene bag for two days. Inoculated plants were observed for disease symptoms, and disease severity was scored between 1 to 5 where: 1 = no symptoms observed; 2 = only leaf spot symptoms visible, i.e., translucent and water-soaked spots; 3 = leaf blight; 10 to 50 % leaf area infected, inoculated trifoliate intact; 4 = severe blight symptoms; more than 50% leaf area infected, inoculated trifoliate intact; and 5 = inoculated trifoliate is shed. In order to determine significant differences between the reactions of the common bean accessions to CBB disease, the disease severity scores of the common bean accessions were subjected to analysis of variance and Duncan Multiple Rank Test (test level 5%) using statistical software for social sciences (SPSS) V21.

3.4.3 Bacteria quantification in leaves of inoculated plants

Each experiment was performed in triplicate, leaves of inoculated and non-inoculated common bean accessions were collected from the greenhouse. Quantification of the bacteria in leaves was performed following the procedure described by Denardin and Agostini. (2013), with minor changes. The leaves were washed under running tap water for 2 min, dipped for 30 sec in 1.5% sodium hypochlorite, rinsed for 1 min in sterile water, dipped for 2 min in 4% H₂O₂, rinsed for 3 min in sterile water, dipped in 70% ethanol for 3 min. The leaf was then washed three times in sterile water for 3 min. Thereafter, each leaf sample was crushed into a fine homogenate in a sterile mortar and pestle. The resultant homogenate was dispensed in well-labeled sterile micro-centrifuge tube and centrifuged at 9500 ×g for 10 min. An aliquot of 80 μ l of the supernatant was then spread on the YPGA medium and incubated at 28 °C for 48 hrs. The plates were observed for the growth of *Xap* colonies. Non-inoculated plants and the water used for the last rinse of the leaves were used as controls.

3.4.4 Analysis of biochemical parameters in CBB-resistant and susceptible common bean accessions

Based on the results from the CBB resistance screening experiments, 2 accessions each for resistant and susceptible were selected and used for biochemical analyses.

3.4.4.1 Determination of lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was estimated from MDAcontent following the Hodges *et al.* (1999) and Chen and Gallie (2006) protocol, based on thiobarbituric acid (TBA). A pod sample weighing 0.4 g was crushed in 4 ml of 0.1% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The suspension was then centrifuged for 5 min at 9500 ×g and 0.5 ml of the supernatant collected. An aliquot of 1 ml 20% (w/v) TCA containing 0.5% (w/v) TBA was added to the supernatant and incubated in a water bath at 95 °C for 30 min before cooling the mixture on ice for 20 min and then spinning for 10 min at 1160 ×g. The absorbance of the supernatant was taken at 600 nm and 532 nm. "Non-specific turbidity was corrected by subtracting the readings obtained at 600 nm from the readings at 532 nm". Malondialdehyde concentration was calculated with its extinction coefficient of 155 mM-1 cm-1 and expressed as nmol malondialdehyde g^{-1} fresh mass using the formula:

Total MDA =Amount of extraction buffer (ml) × Amount of supernatant (ml) ×[Abs 532-Abs 600)/ 155]×1000/ Amount of sample; Where 532 nm =maximum absorbance of the TBA-MDA complex; 600 nm =the correction for non -specific turbidity and 155 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ =specific molar extinction coefficient for MDA.

3.3.4.2 Estimation of total phenolic compounds (TPC)

The concentration of TPC was assayed colorimetrically following the procedure by Bakar *et al.* (2015) based on the reduction of Folin- Ciocalteu. Pod samples, each weighing 0.5g were crushed in 95% ethanol and incubated for 48 hrs at 25 °C. The mixture was then spun for 15 min at 16060 ×g, then 300 μ l of the supernatant was taken and mixed with 2250 μ l of Folin-ciocalteu and 2250 μ l of sodium bicarbonate. The mixture was incubated for 90 min at 25 °C. The absorbance was then read spectrophotometrically at 725 nm and the results recorded. A standard graph using Galic acid was used to estimate the content of phenolic compounds and the results expressed as mg of Galic acid equivalent (GAE) per gram of extracts.

3.4.4.3 Assay of antioxidant enzyme activities

Pod samples obtained from 2 CBB resistant and 2 CBB susceptible common bean accessions were used. The pod samples used, weighed 0.25g; they were then crushed into a fine homogenate in 2 ml of extraction buffer containing 1% w/v PVP, 0.2 mM EDTA and 100 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) on ice. The mixture was then centrifuged for 20 min at 16060 \times g. The supernatants were assayed for catalase and peroxidase enzyme activities.

Peroxidase (POD) activity was determined by adding 50 μ l of the homogenized bean pod sample into 2 ml of the reaction mixture containing 25 mM H₂O₂, 25 mM guaiacol and 50 mM sodium acetate buffer (pH 7.0). Peroxidase enzyme activity was determined by recording absorbance readings at 470 nm. The total POD activity was calculated as follows;

Total peroxidase activity = (Change in absorbance ×Total reaction volume) \div (sample volume × Extinction coefficient of the enzyme). The Extinction coefficient of POD is 26.6 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹.

The CAT activity in the common bean samples was determined following the Cakmak *et al.* (1993) protocol. To 50 μ l of the enzyme extract, 3ml of reaction buffer containing 15 mM H₂O₂ and 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) was added. Catalase activity was determined from absorbance readings at 240 nm for 1 minute; the readings decrease with the decay of H₂O₂. The CAT activity was calculated following the formula described by Nakano and Asada, (1981);

Total catalase activity = (Change in absorbance × Total reaction volume) \div (sample volume × Extinction coefficient of the enzyme). The extinction coefficient of CAT is 40 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Molecular characterization of common bean accessions using SCoT primers

4.1.1 Polymorphism and diversity parameters revealed by SCoT markers

A total of 36 SCoT primers were screened for molecular characterization of common bean accessions. Then 17 SCoT primers (Table 2) that produced clear and reproducible bands were selected for the determination of molecular diversity of common bean accessions. A representative amplification profile generated by SCoT 23 and 34 primers for common bean accessions is shown in Fig. 2.



Figure 2: Electrophoresis gel image of PCR amplicons using SCoT 23 and SCoT 34 for common bean accessions.

A and B represent PCR amplification profile of SCoT 23 and SCoT 34 respectively. Lanes 47 - 64 and 48 - 64 in A and B, respectively, represent amplified DNA samples of common bean accessions. L is GeneRuler 1 kb Plus DNA Ladder (Fisher ThermoScientific).

The 17 SCoT markers amplified a total of 224 reliable and unambiguous bands ranging from 100 – 3000 bp, the average bands per primer was 13, ranging from 6 (SCoT 24) to 18 (SCoT 7) (Table 3), 95% of the amplified bands were polymorphic.

The GD of the assessed common bean accessions was between 0.93 (SCoT 24) and 0.99 (SCoT 4,7,32 and 35) with a mean of 0.98 (Table 3). On the other hand, I ranged from 0.90 (SCoT 4) to 1.54 (SCoT 27) with a mean of 1.24. Minimum (0.74) and maximum (0.91) HT values were recorded by SCoT 24 and SCoT 7, respectively, with a mean of 0.86. The minimum (3.77) and maximum (11.03) Ne was observed for markers SCoT 24 and SCoT 7, respectively, with a mean of 7.68. The average PIC for the 17 SCoT markers was 0.73, the lowest PIC value (0.60) was observed for marker SCoT 27 while the highest (0.85) was observed for marker SCoT 7. The mean RP was 5.09, the RP values recorded for the 17 SCoT markers ranged from 1.73 (SCoT 24) to 8.13 (SCoT 7) (Table 3).

No	Primar	TAR	MR	PB Per	Gene	т	нт	No	PIC	DD
1		12	1			1	0.91	5.25	0.91	2.02
1	SC01 4	15	1	0.92	0.99	0.90	0.81	5.55	0.81	2.95
2	SCoT 5	9	1	0.89	0.97	1.21	0.84	6.09	0.72	4.47
3	SCoT 7	18	0	1.00	0.99	1.13	0.91	11.03	0.85	8.13
4	SCoT 11	12	2	0.83	0.98	1.11	0.85	6.46	0.76	4.13
5	SCoT 14	13	0	1.00	0.98	1.35	0.85	6.63	0.76	7.00
6	SCoT 15	11	0	1.00	0.98	1.36	0.88	8.40	0.74	6.00
7	SCoT 16	14	1	0.93	0.98	1.35	0.84	6.09	0.74	6.07
8	SCoT 23	17	2	0.88	0.98	1.35	0.90	9.56	0.68	5.40
9	SCoT 24	6	1	0.83	0.93	1.07	0.74	3.77	0.60	1.73
10	SCoT 26	9	0	1.00	0.96	1.31	0.84	6.09	0.63	3.00
11	SCoT 27	14	1	0.93	0.97	1.54	0.89	9.28	0.60	4.40
12	SCoT 29	16	0	1.00	0.98	1.24	0.88	8.54	0.74	4.93
13	SCoT 30	16	0	1.00	0.98	1.32	0.89	8.94	0.71	4.47
14	SCoT 32	17	1	0.94	0.99	1.29	0.91	10.63	0.77	7.73
15	SCoT 34	14	1	0.93	0.98	1.12	0.86	7.14	0.76	4.13
16	SCoT 35	13	0	1.00	0.99	1.13	0.88	8.16	0.82	5.73
17	SCoT 36	12	0	1.00	0.98	1.26	0.88	8.41	0.78	6.20
Mean	_	13	4	0.95	0.98	1.24	0.86	7.68	0.73	5.09

Table 3: Amplification and polymorphism parameters of common bean accessions revealed by SCoT markers

Total amplified band (TAB) Monomorphic bands (MB) percentage bands per loci (PB) Shannon information index (I) Heterozygozity (HT) Effective alleles(Ne) Polymorphic information content (PIC) Resolving power (RP)

4.1.2 Similarity coefficient among the 30 common bean accessions

Estimation of Jaccards' coefficient of genetic similarity among the assessed common bean accessions revealed an average similarity index of 0.52. The least similarity was between Chinchae LRC 08 KSI (53) and GBK 036527(19) and between Chinchae LRC 08 KSI (53) and GBK 030259 (22) with a similarity index of 0.26 while the highest similarity was between GBK 036523 (25) and KAT X69 (3) with a similarity index of 0.73 (Table 4).

	3	7	8	9	19	21	22	25	27	28	29	30	33	35	41	45	47	48	49	50	51	53	54	55	56	58	60	61	63	64
3	1.00	0.53	0.40	0.65	0.63	0.60	0.57	0.73	0.58	0.55	0.58	0.68	0.55	0.70	0.60	0.57	0.57	0.57	0.47	0.60	0.50	0.31	0.61	0.69	0.59	0.33	0.53	0.44	0.50	0.56
7		1.00	0.51	0.54	0.48	0.61	0.47	0.51	0.62	0.45	0.54	0.45	0.43	0.47	0.53	0.63	0.57	0.60	0.54	0.46	0.53	0.27	0.48	0.50	0.47	0.32	0.59	0.42	0.43	0.51
8			1.00	0.45	0.37	0.46	0.44	0.37	0.48	0.36	0.43	0.37	0.34	0.41	0.42	0.49	0.41	0.41	0.46	0.35	0.44	0.33	0.41	0.38	0.39	0.29	0.45	0.32	0.40	0.42
9				1.00	0.60	0.56	0.54	0.61	0.58	0.55	0.60	0.62	0.49	0.64	0.58	0.54	0.56	0.52	0.50	0.60	0.49	0.29	0.56	0.66	0.51	0.32	0.50	0.38	0.50	0.50
19					1.00	0.52	0.44	0.57	0.52	0.51	0.61	0.58	0.52	0.58	0.55	0.49	0.50	0.49	0.44	0.48	0.47	0.26	0.55	0.56	0.44	0.32	0.51	0.38	0.44	0.46
21						1.00	0.48	0.53	0.65	0.47	0.57	0.53	0.41	0.57	0.50	0.53	0.62	0.56	0.54	0.54	0.53	0.33	0.52	0.56	0.50	0.33	0.54	0.41	0.52	0.60
22							1.00	0.57	0.52	0.51	0.50	0.50	0.54	0.58	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.47	0.41	0.47	0.48	0.26	0.56	0.55	0.49	0.32	0.48	0.35	0.51	0.47
25								1.00	0.56	0.47	0.58	0.64	0.48	0.65	0.56	0.54	0.55	0.52	0.50	0.59	0.47	0.29	0.61	0.62	0.52	0.33	0.51	0.39	0.47	0.49
27									1.00	0.50	0.55	0.56	0.46	0.58	0.46	0.54	0.55	0.54	0.56	0.51	0.56	0.28	0.51	0.55	0.50	0.33	0.59	0.36	0.44	0.58
28										1.00	0.53	0.54	0.51	0.56	0.51	0.49	0.48	0.42	0.39	0.44	0.43	0.27	0.55	0.48	0.45	0.29	0.45	0.33	0.47	0.41
29											1.00	0.57	0.45	0.60	0.55	0.50	0.53	0.49	0.46	0.45	0.46	0.28	0.53	0.51	0.50	0.34	0.44	0.35	0.44	0.49
30												1.00	0.54	0.64	0.56	0.47	0.48	0.47	0.45	0.56	0.44	0.29	0.54	0.58	0.44	0.36	0.51	0.37	0.51	0.46
33													1.00	0.52	0.49	0.47	0.44	0.44	0.38	0.48	0.43	0.29	0.44	0.46	0.41	0.32	0.46	0.34	0.43	0.39
35														1.00	0.63	0.58	0.55	0.54	0.46	0.59	0.45	0.33	0.60	0.58	0.57	0.36	0.51	0.38	0.56	0.52
41															1.00	0.59	0.54	0.54	0.40	0.53	0.46	0.31	0.54	0.55	0.48	0.34	0.46	0.34	0.55	0.51
45																1.00	0.57	0.55	0.49	0.49	0.51	0.29	0.48	0.53	0.52	0.32	0.54	0.38	0.46	0.51
47																	1.00	0.67	0.54	0.57	0.52	0.33	0.51	0.57	0.58	0.32	0.49	0.37	0.46	0.58
48																		1.00	0.55	0.58	0.54	0.33	0.50	0.55	0.55	0.39	0.53	0.43	0.49	0.57
49																			1.00	0.49	0.55	0.30	0.44	0.50	0.46	0.30	0.54	0.36	0.43	0.50
50																				1.00	0.52	0.39	0.57	0.69	0.54	0.33	0.52	0.40	0.53	0.55
51																					1.00	0.31	0.47	0.55	0.57	0.30	0.60	0.38	0.46	0.54
53																						1.00	0.31	0.32	0.31	0.33	0.28	0.36	0.35	0.30
54																							1.00	0.65	0.50	0.31	0.48	0.38	0.53	0.47
55																								1.00	0.56	0.35	0.55	0.47	0.53	0.57
56																									1.00	0.34	0.45	0.41	0.53	0.56
58																										1.00	0.33	0.35	0.32	0.31
60																											1.00	0.44	0.41	0.55
61																												1.00	0.41	0.40
63																													1.00	0.51
64																														1.00

Table 4: Pairwise genetic similarity among 30 common bean accessions as revealed by 17 SCoT primers

3= KAT X69, 7= GBK 036530, 8= GBK 030249, 9= GBK 036524, 19= GBK 036527, 21= GBK 030178, 22= GBK 030259, 25= GBK 036523, 27= GBK 030171, 28= GBK 0365328, 29= GBK 030217, 30= GBK 030244, 33=GBK 030227, 35=GBK 030157, 41= LRC20, 45= LRC 23, 47= LRC22, 48=LRC04, 49=LRC05, 50=LRC11, 51=LRC08, 53=LRC15, 55=LRC24, 56=LRC21, 58=LRC16, 60= LRC09, 61= Makueni 1, 63=KATB1, GBK 030167

Based on the UPGMA clustering algorithm from the 17 SCoT markers, the 30 common bean accessions were categorized into 2 clusters, A and B (Fig. 3) at 44% with an index length of 0.3-0.7. The first and second clusters were composed of 24 and 2 common bean accessions, respectively. The common bean accessions from the two different collection sites were randomly clustered in the dendrogram with no specificity to the site of seed collection (Table 5). Four outgroups consisting of accessions from the Genebank and Nyanza were also observed in the dendrogram (Fig. 3; Table 5).

Cluster	Sub-clu ster	No. of accessions	Accession ID	Site of accession collection
А	1	14	3, 25, 35, 30, 9, 50, 55, 54, 41, 19, 29, 28, 22, 33	Genebank and Nyanza
	2	10	7, 45, 47, 48, 21, 27, 64, 49, 51, 60	Nyanza and Genebank
В		2	56, 63	Nyanza
Outgroups		4	8, 61, 58, 53	Nyanza and Genebank

Table 5: Description of the distribution of 30 common bean accessions in the dendrogram and their respective sites of collection.



Figure 3: Dendrogram of 30 Kenyan common bean accessions obtained from 17 SCoT markers polymorphisms using UPGMA.

Black and Purple colors indicate common bean accessions collected from Genebank and Nyanza, respectively.

4.1.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)

The PCA using the 17 SCoT markers clustered the 30 common beans into two clusters and four single outgroups (Fig. 4). The common bean accessions were randomly distributed across the groups irrespective of place of collection. The generated scatter plot highlighted a total variation of 45.92% with the first and second components composed of 33.54% and 12.38% of the total variations, respectively.

Observations (axes F1 and F2: 45.92 %)



Figure 4: Principal component analysis (PCA) of 30 common bean accessions as revealed by 17 SCoT markers.

FI = first principal component and F2 = Second principal component

4.1.5 Population structure

The maximum ΔK value (136.374) was highest at K=3, indicating that the optimal number of subpopulations between the common bean accessions was 3 (Figure 5). The separation of the subpopulations at K = 3 in structure is presented in Figure 5. Sub-population 1 (red), 2 (green) and 3 (blue) consisted of 3, 12 and 15 common bean accessions, respectively. However, 22 common bean accessions comprised of admixtures of the three main subpopulations (Fig. 6).



Figure 5: Plot of delta K (Δ K) values obtained from the Structure analyses of 30 common bean accessions, obtained using Structure harvester.



Figure 6: Population structure analysis of 30 common bean accessions for K=3 groups obtained by structure software V2.3.4.

Each solid bar represents single accession; the proportions of the color bars represent the admixtures in the accessions. The coordinate axis shows the estimated ancestry of each accession from a particular subpopulation while the horizontal axis shows every common bean accession on its individual bar.

1= KAT X69, 2= GBK 036530, 3= GBK 030249, 4= GBK 036524, 5= GBK 036527, 6= GBK 030178, 7= GBK 030259, 8= GBK 036523, 9= GBK 030171, 10= GBK 0365328, 11= GBK 030217, 12= GBK 030244, 13= GBK 030227, 14= GBK 030157, 15= KAT B1, 16= GBB 030167, 17= LRC 20, 18= LRC 23, 19=LRC 22, 20= LRC 04, 21= LRC 05, 22= LRC 12, 23= LRC 11, 24= LRC 08, 25= LRC 15, 26= LRC 24, 27= LRC 21, 28= LRC 16, 29= LRC 9 and 30= Makueni 1

4.1.7 Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA)

AMOVA was used to assess the existing differences within and among the common bean accessions under study (Table 6). The results revealed a significantly high genetic variation within the population (96%) compared to the 4% among the two populations (p<0.001).

Table 6: Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) based on SCoT markers for 30 common bean accessions

Source	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean of	Estimated	Percent	P. value
	freedom	squares	squares	variation	variation	
Among population	1	50.358	50.358	1.332	4%	< 0.001
Within population	28	852.875	30.460	30.460	96%	< 0.001
Total	29	903.233		31.792	100%	

4.2 Screening of 20 selected common bean accessions for resistance to CBB

The plants of susceptible common bean accessions exhibited CBB symptoms 14 days post-inoculation. Initially, the CBB symptoms were observed as water-filled spots on leaves, which enlarged to irregular brown necrotic lesions at 28 days post-inoculation. The symptoms on the leaves are shown in Fig. 7. Similar symptoms were also observed on the pods of CBB susceptible common bean accessions (Fig. 8).



Figure 7: Symptoms of CBB on leaves of susceptible common bean plant at 21 days following *Xap* inoculation.

A and B represents non-inoculated control and inoculated plants, respectively, of common bean accession 28 (GBK 0365328); C and D represents non-inoculated control and inoculated plants, respectively, of common bean accession 48 (Emwetemania LRC 04 KSI). Necrotic tip with a narrow yellow zone in Fig. B and D represent the CBB symptoms



Figure 8: Symptoms of CBB on pods of susceptible common bean plant at 21 days following *Xap* inoculation.

A and B represent non-inoculated control and inoculated common bean pods, respectively, of common bean accession 28 (GBK 0365328); C and D represents non-inoculated control and inoculated common bean pods, respectively, of common bean accession 48 (Emwetemania LRC 04 KSI). Sunken and dark reddish-brown blotches in Fig. B and D indicate the CBB symptoms.

			5	
Accession			Disease	
ID	Name of the accession	Disease severity	rating	Xap Present/Absent
41	Ritinge LRC 20 KSI	4.67±0.333 a	S	+
28	GBK 0365328	4.33±0.667 ab	S	+
19	GBK 036527	4±0 bc	S	+
56	Morogi LRC 21 KSI	3.67±0.333cd	S	+
3	KAT X69	3±0e	S	+
7	GBK 036530	3±0de	S	+
8	GBK 030249	3±0de	S	+
25	GBK 036523	3±0de	S	+
27	GBK 030171	3±0de	S	+
30	GBK 030244	3±0de	S	+
47	Emwamu LRC 22 KSI	3±0de	S	+
	Emwetemania LRC 04			+
48	KSI	3±0de	S	
49	Girini LRC 05 KSI	3±0de	S	+
50	LRC 12 KSI	3±0de	S	+
	Ekoko enyege LRC 15			+
54	KSI	3±0de	S	
	Ekoko entabe LRC 24			+
55	KSI	3±0de	S	
33	GBK 030227	2.33±0.333e	S	+
58	Manoa LRC 16 KSI	1±0f	R	-
61	Makueni 1	1±0f	R	-
64	GBK 030167	1±0f	R	_

Table 7: Common bacterial blight disease severity and rating of the 20 common bean accessions

Mean disease severity values followed by the same letter (s) are not significantly different at $P \le 0.005$, using Duncan multiple rank test.

Disease severity score was used to rate the accessions as resistant (R) or susceptible (S), where; $R = \le 1.5$ and $S = \ge 1.5$. + and – represent the presence and absence of *Xap*, respectively

According to the disease severity scale used, 15% and 85% common bean accessions were classified as resistant and susceptible, respectively (Table 7). The disease severity was significantly different among the common bean accessions (F= 4.69, P>0.05). The most susceptible accessions to CBB were GBK 036527, GBK 0365328 and Ritinge LRC 20 KSI (19,

28, and 41) while CBB resistant accessions were Manoa LRC 16 KSI, Makueni 1 and GBK 030167 (58, 61 and 64) (Fig. 8, Table 7).

The resistance or susceptibility to CBB was confirmed by re-isolation of *Xap* bacteria from inoculated plants on YPGA. *Xap* colonies were obtained in all plants of susceptible common bean accessions (Fig. 9 A). However, the *Xap* colonies were absent among the resistant common bean accessions (Fig. 9 B).



Figure 9: Yeast glucose peptone agar (YPGA) plates for common bean plant leaf extracts infected with *Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli*.

A and B represent plates of leaf extracts from plants of non-inoculated and inoculated common bean accession susceptible to CBB, respectively.

4.3 Biochemical analyses in resistant and susceptible common bean accessions

4.3.1 Estimation of malondialdehyde (MDA) content

The MDA content was significantly different between susceptible and resistant common bean accessions. The MDA content was significantly higher ($P \le 0.05$) in inoculated common bean accessions of susceptible plants as compared with the non-inoculated plants. However, resistant

common bean accessions did not show any significant difference between the inoculated and non-inoculated plants (Fig. 10).



Figure 10: The content of malondialdehyde (MDA) in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*.

Makueni 1 and GBK 030167 represent CBB resistant accession; GBK 0365328 and Ritinge LRC 20 KSI represent CBB susceptible common bean accessions. * Indicate significant difference between non-inoculated and inoculated plants of the same accessions ($P \le 0.05$). Bars represent standard error of means.

4.3.2 Determination of total phenolic content

The TPCs were significantly high ($P \le 0.05$) among the CBB-resistant common bean accessions as compared to the susceptible ones. Among the CBB resistant common bean accessions, there was a significant ($P \le 0.05$) difference between the inoculated and non-inoculated CBB accessions. In the susceptible common bean accessions, there was a significant difference between the inoculated and non-inoculated GBK 0365328, while the inoculated and non-inoculated Ritinge LRC 20 KSI did not record any difference (Fig. 11).



Figure 11: The content of phenolic compounds in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*.

Makueni 1 and GBK 030167 represent CBB resistant accession; GBK 0365328 and Ritinge LRC 20 KSI represent CBB susceptible common bean accessions. *Indicate significant difference between non-inoculated and inoculated plants of the same accessions ($P \le 0.05$). Error bars represent standard error of means.

4.3.4 Antioxidant enzyme activities

Significant changes in the antioxidant enzyme activities were observed in CBB-resistant and

susceptible common bean accessions following inoculation with Xap pathogen.

4.3.4.1 Peroxidase activity

There was no significant difference in POD activity between the inoculated and non-inoculated plants of both resistant and susceptible common bean accessions (Fig. 12). However, POD levels were notably high in GBK 030167, compared to the other accessions, while Makueni 1, a resistant common bean accession, recorded the least POD enzyme activity.



Figure 12: Peroxidase (POD) enzyme activity in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*.

Makueni 1 and GBK 030167 represent CBB resistant accession, GBK 0365328, and Ritinge LRC 20 KSI represent CBB susceptible common bean accessions. Error bars represent standard error of means.

4.3.4.2 Catalase activity

Catalase activity was notably higher among the inoculated plants compared to the non-inoculated

plants of both resistant and susceptible common bean accessions. There was no significant

difference in CAT activity between the susceptible and resistant common bean accessions under study (Fig.13).



Figure 13: Catalase (CAT) enzyme activity in pods of susceptible and resistant plants of common bean accessions at 30 days post-inoculation with *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*.

Makueni 1 and GBK 030167 represent CBB resistant accession, GBK 0365328, and Ritinge LRC 20 KSI represent CBB susceptible common bean accessions. Error bars represent standard error of means.

4.4 Unique bands revealed by SCoT markers among the assessed 30 common bean

accessions

Twelve out of the seventeen SCoT markers generated eight unique bands that were present in susceptible and resistant common bean accessions. SCoT 7, 24, 32, and 36 revealed 6 unique bands only present in CBB resistant plants, while SCoT 5 and 26 amplified two unique bands present in CBB susceptible common bean accessions. However, SCoT 11, 16, 23, 29, 30 and 34 amplified eighteen unique bands present in both CBB-resistant and susceptible accessions (Table

Marker name	No. of unique amplified bands	Accession name				
SCoT 5*	1	Girini LRC 05 KSI				
SCoT 7**	3	GBK 030167				
SCoT 11	2	LRC 12 KSI and Manoa LRC 16 KSI				
SCoT 16	2	Ritinge LRC 20 KSI and Manoa LRC 16 KSI				
SCoT 23	3	Manoa LRC 16 KSI, Chinchae LRC 8 KSI and GBK 036527				
SCoT 24**	1	Manoa LRC 16 KSI				
SCoT 26*	1	GBK 0365328				
SCoT 29	2	LRC 11 KSI and GBK 030167				
SCoT 30	5	Ekoko Enyege LRC 15 LSI, Manoa LRC 16 KSI and Makueni 1				
SCoT 32**	1	Manoa LRC 16 KSI				
SCoT 34	4	Morogi LRC 21 KSI, Chinchae LRC 8 KSI, Girini LRC 05 KSI, GBK 030167				
SCoT 36**	1	Makueni 1				

Table 8: Unique bands amplified using SCoT primers and the ID of the associated common bean accessions

** represent SCoT markers that amplified unique bands in only CBB resistant common bean accessions, * represent SCoT markers that amplified unique bands in only CBB susceptible common bean accessions. Without * represent markers that amplified unique bands in both CBB susceptible and resistant common bean accessions.
CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Discussion

Genetic diversity of crop plants is a pre-requisite step in plant breeding (development of superior accessions), utilization as well as conservation of superior cultivars (Xanthopoulou *et al.*, 2015; Chai *et al.*, 2017). Molecular markers provide a simple and effective strategy for studying the genetic diversity of common bean cultivars based on DNA polymorphisms (Gyang *et al.*, 2017). Genetic diversity in common bean has been previously analyzed by molecular markers such as RAPD, ISSR, AFLP, and SSR (Dagnew *et al.*, 2014; Nyakio *et al.*, 2014; Bukhari *et al.*, 2015; Gyang *et al.*, 2017). However, all these markers are not linked to gene function. Gene targeted markers are superior for diversity analysis since they measure genetic diversity from the gene regions and directly reveal functional diversity present in the studied species; thus, they are suitable for marker-assisted breeding (Collard and Mackill, 2009; Paliwal *et al.*, 2013). Studies using gene-targeted markers such as SCoT for genetic diversity analysis in Kenyan common bean accessions were reported for the first time in the current study.

In the current study, the 17 SCoT makers amplified 224 bands, ranging between 100 and 3000 bp, with an average of 13 amplicons per marker. The amplified bands were significantly high as compared to 65 bands amplified by RAPD (Razvi *et al.*, 2013). This difference can be attributed to the high GC-content of the SCoT markers used, which plays a significant role in the stability of GC-complementation with respect to A-T pairing and hence, a higher number of bands (Bukhari *et al.*, 2015). In this study, 95% of the amplified SCoT loci were polymorphic, which was high compared to the polymorphism rates detected by SCoT analysis in mango (76.19%), peanut (36.76%) and ramie (87.5%) (Luo *et al.*, 2010; Xiong *et al.*, 2011; Satya *et al.*, 2015).

Similarly, mean values of other diversity indicator parameters such as; gene diversity (0.98), I (1.24), HT (0.86) and Ne (7.68) were also high compared to mean values of 0.33, 0.19 and 0.47 of I, HT and Ne respectively obtained by Gyang *et al.*, (2018). The high polymorphism rates observed in this study indicates a rich genetic diversity among the assayed common bean accessions.

The mean PIC value of 0.73, which ranged from 0.60 to 0.85, was obtained in this study; these values are in agreement with findings by (Agarwal et al., 2018), who recorded an average PIC of 0.78 in 29 Rose (Rosa gallica) accessions using 32 SCoT markers. The PIC value indicates the usefulness of a marker for linkage analysis as well as highlighting its resolvability. The value is directly proportional to the marker's informativeness and is a fundamental factor in identifying genotypic variation (Bukhari et al., 2015). According to Botstein et al. (1980), a PIC value of less than 0.25 reflects low polymorphism, whereas between 0.25 and 0.50 indicates average polymorphism, and a value of more than 0.5 indicates high polymorphism. In the current study, the high PIC value obtained indicates the efficiency of SCoT markers in genetic diversity analysis. Previous studies in Kenya used SSR (Gyang et al., 2017) and POX markers (Anunda et al., 2019) and recorded a mean PIC value of 0.60 and 0.28, respectively, in their analysis of genetic diversity in common bean accessions. This suggests a rich genetic diversity among the common bean accessions grown in Kenya. The resolving power (RP), which indicates the discriminatory power of a marker, was found to be 5.09. The SCoT markers used in the current study recorded high RP values in comparison to the RP values reported by Zargar and Sharma (2016) for RAPDs (RP of 3.86) and SSRs (RP of 4.96). This is because SCoT markers are highly polymorphic and gene-targeted; hence they might highlight more variations than non-targeted markers such as RAPD, and SSR as reported by Etminan et al. (2016) in their study on the genetic diversity analysis in durum wheat genotypes using different molecular markers.

Analysis of genetic similarity of the Kenyan common bean accessions using similarity coefficient and UPGMA revealed two main clusters among the 30 common bean accessions at a genetic similarity of 44%. The common bean accessions from the two regions of collection were randomly distributed in the dendrogram. Similarly, in the PCA plot, the 30 common bean accessions formed two clusters and exhibited random distribution of common bean accessions collected from the two different sites. These findings illustrated the existence of a genetic relationship between the accessions collected from farmer's fields and those obtained from the Genebank. The maximum genetic similarity was between GBK 036523 and KAT X69. Since KAT X69 is a breeders' line, it is possible then that GBK 036523 was used as a parent accession in the breeding program. On the other hand, the least genetic similarity was observed between Chinchae LRC 8 KSI and GBK 036527, this is expected since the two accessions are from two different collection regions, thereby implying high genetic diversity between the two accessions.

Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) showed that 96% of the variation was apportioned within the populations, and 4% of the differences were apportioned among the populations. The within-population genetic variation obtained in the current study was higher than that reported by Gyang *et al.* (2017), who showed 87% genetic variation within common bean accessions using SSR markers. The low significant (P < 0.001) genetic differentiation between populations, as demonstrated by AMOVA in the current study, might be due to low selection pressure among farmers over a long period (Kimani *et al.*, 2001). Clustering among the 30 common bean accessions was also established by the Bayesian clustering algorithm using STRUCTURE software. Bayesian clustering approach aids in the determination of the existing population structure and allocation of individual or portion of genetic information to several clusters based on multilocus accessions (Chen *et al.*, 2007). The delta K method was found to be best at K = 3, which explained the types of diversification in the clustering. The population structure divided

the accessions from the two collection sites into three subpopulations. There was a high genetic admixture, observed among the common bean accessions, illustrating the existence of considerable genetic variability in the common beans under study. Within the three subpopulations identified in the structure analysis, more accessions from Nyanza were present in the admixture as compared to the ones from the Genebank, indicating a rich genetic diversity in the common bean accessions from the accessions from the Genebank.

The degree of genetic relationship and differentiation provide information about the different genetic background of common bean accessions. Therefore, the selection of genetically distant accessions for hybridization in common bean breeding programs will potentially lead to elite varieties with broadened genetic bases. These results indicated the enormous potential of accelerating the genetic improvement in the future common bean-breeding programs by MAS. The broader range of genetic diversity among the accessions may indicate the potential gene pool for future common bean breeding programs. It will not only lead to the genetic improvement of common bean accessions but will also be used to explore the new alleles for valuable agronomic traits.

Common bacterial blight disease is prevalent in all bean growing regions in Kenya. Reports indicate that the disease contributes to significant economic and yield losses among common bean producing farmers in Kenya. With the high losses associated with CBB coupled with existing management options that are difficult to integrate with subsistence production systems among resource-poor farmers, the losses due to CBB will continue to affect common bean growing farmers. Studies report that the use of resistant varieties is the only economical and efficient mechanism in the management of CBB (Osdaghi *et al.*, 2009). Identification of CBB

resistant common bean accessions, therefore, will have a considerable positive effect in minimizing CBB associated yield and economic losses experienced by farmers in Kenya.

In the current study, three out of twenty accessions screened in the glasshouse did not elicit CBB associated symptoms. On the other hand, the remaining seventeen common bean accessions elicited CBB symptoms, characterized by a narrow lemon-yellow halo surrounding necrotic lesion on the leaves and a dark-brown sunken lesion on pods. Further analysis by re-isolation of the *Xap* pathogen from each inoculated common bean sample confirmed that the three common bean accessions were resistant to CBB while the other seventeen accessions were susceptible. The different responses of the common bean accessions to *Xap* inoculation exhibited during this study demonstrates the varying levels of resistance to CBB among the common bean accessions grown in Kenya. This may be associated with the existing genetic diversity among the common beans under study. Interesting to note, Manoa LRC 16 KSI (58) reported to be resistant to CBB in this study. Therefore, one common bean accession may be resistance to multiple diseases.

Malondialdehyde (MDA) content, a product of lipid peroxidation is a prominent indicator of membrane damage in plants exposed to biotic stresses (Ibrahim and Jaafar, 2012). Malondialdehyde is produced upon the breakdown of membrane lipids and is an indicator of cellular damage caused by pathogen infection (Siddique *et al.*, 2014). In the present study, the levels of MDA increased significantly in inoculated plants of susceptible common bean accessions than in the resistant accessions. This is in agreement with the findings by Islam *et al.* (2017) who observed elevated levels of MDA in *Brassica napus* (Rapeseed) plants, indicating oxidative stress in response to *Xanthomonas campestris* py. *campestris* infection. The susceptible common bean

accessions challenged with *Xap* in this study recorded the highest levels of MDA compared to the resistant accessions thus explaining the severity in cellular damage in the susceptible accessions than in the resistant ones. It may be possible that the low lipid peroxidation in the resistant accessions is an indication that the plant defense system is activated to suppress ROS production.

Phenolic compounds are vital functions in the protection of plants against oxidative damage. The concentrations of phenolic compounds, in the present study, increased significantly in *Xap*-inoculated plants. However, there was a significantly high amount of phenolic compounds in both inoculated and non-inoculated plants of CBB resistant common bean accessions as compared to the susceptible accessions. It is possible that the phenolic compounds in the common bean accessions resistant to CBB might be involved in inducing resistance. Production of phenolic compounds has been shown to induce the release of host-pathogenesis related protein that may aid in relieving disease-associated stress (Awan *et al.*, 2018).

Antioxidant enzymes such as CAT and POD play an essential role in protecting plants from oxidative damage (Mittler *et al.* 2004; Gill and Tuteja, 2010). Catalases and peroxidases scavenge H_2O_2 . Results from this study indicated that infection by *Xap* led to the substantial changes in the antioxidant status of plants of common bean accessions. Catalase enzyme plays a vital role in H_2O_2 homeostasis and ROS signaling in response to plant pathogen infection (Magbanua *et al.*, 2007). The results of CAT enzyme in non-inoculated plants of resistant and susceptible common bean accessions were lower compared with inoculated plants, indicating a possible role of this enzyme during *Xap* infection and common bean accessions resistant to CBB compared to the plants of susceptible accessions. Similar findings were reported by Kumar *et al.* (2011), who

showed an increase in CAT activity in sweet orange leaves following infection with *Xanthomonas axopodonis* subsp *citri*.

Peroxidase enzyme plays two roles during infection, i.e., scavenging high levels of H₂O₂ and enhancing instant defense response against pathogen infection (Sulman et al., 2001). Peroxidases are a member of a large multigenic family that are involved in a vast range of physiological processes throughout the life cycle of a plant (Almagro *et al.*, 2009). This participation in the physiological processes is thought to be so, due to the wide range of enzymatic isoforms in PODs and also because of the versatility of their enzyme-catalyzed reactions. Peroxidases are involved in lignin formation in plants, cross-linking of cell wall components and ROS metabolism. The cross-linking creates a physical barrier to inhibit pathogen colonization (Almagro et al., 2009). In this study, plants of both resistant and susceptible common bean accessions recorded high POD activities following Xap inoculation. However, Makueni 1 recorded the least POD enzyme activities compared to the other common bean accessions. These differences could be attributed to the genetic differences between Makueni 1 and the other resistant accession (GBK 03067), indicating genotypic differences in POD enzyme activity induction following Xap inoculation. Therefore, in this study, it is difficult to explain exactly the role of POD enzyme following Xap infection.

A total of eight useful and informative bands were amplified by SCoT markers, which were linked to common bean accessions resistant to CBB. Since SCoT markers are gene-targeted, it may be possible, therefore, that the unique bands are linked directly to functional genes involved in conferring resistance to CBB in common beans. Consequently, the unique bands and CBB resistant common beans can be incorporated in breeding programs for the improvement of susceptible but farmer preferred common bean accessions. These unique bands may also be used in MAS for fast and efficient identification of CBB resistant common bean accessions.

5.2 Conclusions

The results of the current study showed that there exists rich genetic diversity among common bean accessions in Nyanza region and the Genebank of Kenya. Start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism markers recorded high PIC and RP values; therefore they are efficient markers for genetic diversity analysis of common beans.

Three out of twenty common bean accessions were resistant to CBB. Inoculation of common bean accessions with *Xap* changed the oxidative metabolism (production of phenolics and antioxidant enzymes) differently in plants of susceptible and resistant common bean accessions.

Unique SCoT bands were identified in both CBB resistant and susceptible common bean accessions.

5.3 Recommendations

The following are the recommendations:

- (i) There is a need to determine the genetic diversity of common bean accessions from other regions of Kenya using SCoT polymorphism markers.
- (ii) There is a need to screen all common bean accessions grown in Kenya for CBB resistance to identify more CBB resistant accessions for use in future breeding programs.

The identified three common bean accessions can be used to initiate breeding programs for genetic improvement of susceptible but farmer-preferred accessions.

(iii) There is a need to use the identified unique bands in CBB resistant accessions to develop SCAR primer pairs that could be used to rapidly, effectively and reliably identify and differentiate CBB resistant common bean accessions in breeding programs.

REFERENCES

- Agarwal, A., Gupta, V., Haq, S. U., Jatav, P. K., Kothari, S. L., and Kachhwaha, S. (2018). Assessment of genetic diversity in 29 rose germplasms using SCoT marker. Journal of King Saud University-Science.
- Akhavan, A., Bahar, M., Askarian, H., Lak, M. R., Nazemi, A., and Zamani, Z. (2013). Bean common bacterial blight: pathogen epiphytic life and effect of irrigation practices. SpringerPlus, 2(1), 41.
- Almagro, L., Gómez Ros, L. V., Belchi-Navarro, S., Bru, R., Ros Barceló, A., and Pedreno, M. A. (2008). Class III peroxidases in plant defense reactions. Journal of Experimental Botany, 60(2), 377-390.
- Alladassi, S.T. Nkalubo, C. Mukankusi, H.N. Kayaga, P. Gibson, R. Edema, C.A. Urrea, J.D. Kelly, P.R. and Rubaihayo (2018). Identification of common bean genotypes with dual leaf and pod resistance to common bacterial blight disease in Uganda. African Crop Science Journal, 26(1), 63-77.
- Al-Qurainy, F., Khan, S., Nadeem, M., and Tarroum, M. (2015). SCoT marker for the assessment of genetic diversity in Saudi Arabian date palm cultivars. Pakistan Journal of Botany, 47(2), 637-643.
- Anunda, H. N., Nyaboga, E. N., and Amugune, N. O. (2019). Genetic diversity of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) landraces from South Western Kenya for resistance to pythium root rot disease. African Journal of Biotechnology, 18(15), 316-324.
- Asfaw, A., Blair, M. W., and Almekinders, C. (2009). Genetic diversity and population structure of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) landraces from the East African highlands. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 120(1), 1-12.

- 8. Awan, Z. A., Shoaib, A., and Khan, K. A. (2018). Variations in total phenolics and antioxidant enzymes cause phenotypic variability and differential resistant response in tomato genotypes against early blight disease. Scientia Horticulturae, 239, 216-223.
- Bakar, A., Fadzelly, M., Abdul Karim, F., Suleiman, M., Isha, A., and Rahmat, A. (2015). Phytochemical constituents, antioxidant and antiproliferative properties of a liverwort, Lepidozia borneensis Stephani from Mount Kinabalu, Sabah, Malaysia. Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2015.
- Belete, T., and Bastas, K. K. (2017). Common bacterial blight (*Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*) of beans with special focus on Ethiopian condition. Journal of Plant Pathology and Microbiology, 8(2).
- Bindschedler, L.V., Dewdney, J., Blee, K.A., Stone, J.M., Asai, T., Plotnikov, J., Denoux, C., Hayes, T., Gerrish, C., Davies, D.R. and Ausubel, F.M., (2006). Peroxidase-dependent apoplastic oxidative burst in Arabidopsis required for pathogen resistance. The Plant Journal, 47(6), 851-863.
- 12. Blair, M. W., Fregene, M. A., Beebe, S. E., and Ceballos, H. (2007). Marker-assisted selection in common beans and cassava. Marker-assisted selection: Current status and future perspectives in crops, livestock, forestry and fish, 81-115.
- Boersma, J. G., Hou, A., Gillard, C. L., McRae, K. B., and Conner, R. L. (2015). Impact of common bacterial blight on the yield, seed weight and seed discoloration of different market classes of dry beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Canadian Journal of Plant Science, 95(4), 703-710.

- 14. Botstein, D., White, R. L., Skolnick, M., and Davis, R. W. (1980). Construction of a genetic linkage map in man using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. American Journal of Human Genetics, 32(3), 314.
- 15. Bukhari, A., Bhat, M. A., Ahmad, M., and Saleem, N. (2015). Examination of genetic diversity in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) using random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers. African Journal of Biotechnology, 14(6), 451-458.
- CABI, (2018). Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli (bean blight). Wallingford, UK: CAB International. www.cabi.org/isc.
- 17. Cakmak, I., Strbac, D., and Marschner, H. (1993). Activities of hydrogen peroxide-scavenging enzymes in germinating wheat seeds. Journal of Experimental Botany, 44(1), 127-132.
- Carmo, C. D. D., Silva, M. S. D., Oliveira, G. A. F., and Oliveira, E. J. D. (2015). Molecular-assisted selection for resistance to cassava mosaic disease in *Manihot esculenta Crantz*. Scientia Agricola, 72(6), 520-527.
- 19. Chai, X., Dong, R., Liu, W., Wang, Y., and Liu, Z. (2017). Optimizing sample size to assess the genetic diversity in common vetch (*Vicia sativa* L.) populations using start codon targeted (SCoT) markers. Molecules, 22(4), 567.
- 20. Chatterjee, A., and Ghosh, S. K. (2008). Alterations in biochemical components in mesta plants infected with yellow vein mosaic disease. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology, 20 (4), 267-275.
- 21. Chaudhary, K., Mathur, N., Choudhary, P., and Pillai, U. (2008). Protocol for isolation of genomic DNA from dry and fresh leaves of vigna species suitable for RAPD and restriction digestion. Advances in Biological Research, 2, 5-6.

- 22. Chen, Z., and Gallie, D. R. (2006). Dehydroascorbate reductase affects leaf growth, development, and function. Plant Physiology, 142(2), 775-787.
- 23. Chen, C., Durand, E., Forbes, F., and François, O. (2007). Bayesian clustering algorithms ascertaining spatial population structure: a new computer program and a comparison study. Molecular Ecology Notes, 7(5), 747-756.
- 24. Collard, B. C., Jahufer, M. Z. Z., Brouwer, J. B., and Pang, E. C. K. (2005). An introduction to markers, quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and marker-assisted selection for crop improvement: The basic concepts. Euphytica, 142(1-2), 169-196.
- 25. Collard, B. C., and Mackill, D. J. (2007). Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1491), 557-572.
- 26. Collard, B. C., and Mackill, D. J. (2009). Start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism: a simple, novel DNA marker technique for generating gene-targeted markers in plants. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter, 27(1), 86.
- 27. Dagnew, K., Haileselassie, T., and Feyissa, T. (2014). Genetic diversity study of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) germplasm from Ethiopia using inter simple sequence repeat (ISSR) markers. African Journal of Biotechnology, 13(36).
- 28. Denardin, N. D. Á., and Agostini, V. A. (2013). Detection and quantification of *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli* and its variant *fuscans* in common bean seeds. Journal of Seed Science, 35(4), 428-434.
- 29. Duncan, R. W., Singh, S. P., and Gilbertson, R. L. (2011). Interaction of common bacterial blight bacteria with disease resistance quantitative trait loci in common bean. Phytopathology, 101(4), 425-435.

- 30. Earl, D. A., and Vonholdt, B. M. (2012). STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. Conservation Genetics Resources, 4(2), 359-361.
- 31. EFSA Panel on Plant Health (PLH). (2014). Scientific Opinion on the pest categorisation of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. phaseoli and Xanthomonas fuscans subsp. fuscans. EFSA Journal, 12(10), 3856.
- 32. Etminan, A., Pour-Aboughadareh, A., Mohammadi, R., Ahmadi-Rad, A., Noori, A., Mahdavian, Z., and Moradi, Z. (2016). Applicability of start codon targeted (SCoT) and inter-simple sequence repeat (ISSR) markers for genetic diversity analysis in durum wheat genotypes. Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment, 30(6), 1075-1081.
- 33. Etminan, A., Pour-Aboughadareh, A., Noori, A., Ahmadi-Rad, A., Shooshtari, L., Mahdavian, Z., and Yousefiazar-Khanian, M. (2018). Genetic relationships and diversity among wild Salvia accessions revealed by ISSR and SCoT markers. Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment, 32(3), 610-617.
- 34. Evanno, G., Regnaut, S., and Goudet, J. (2005). Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. Molecular Ecology, 14(8), 2611-2620.
- 35. Faostat, F. (2018). Agriculture organization corporate statistical database.
- 36. Fininsa, C. (2003). Relationship between common bacterial blight severity and bean yield loss in pure stand and bean-maize intercropping systems. International Journal of Pest Management, 49(3), 177-185.

- 37. Garcia-Vallvé, S., Palau, J., and Romeu, A. (1999). Horizontal gene transfer in glycosyl hydrolases inferred from codon usage in *Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus subtilis*. Molecular biology and evolution, 16(9), 1125-1134.
- Garcia, A. A., Benchimol, L. L., Barbosa, A. M., Geraldi, I. O., Souza Jr, C. L., and Souza,
 A. P. D. (2004). Comparison of RAPD, RFLP, AFLP and SSR markers for diversity studies in tropical maize inbred lines. Genetics and Molecular Biology, 27(4), 579-588.
- 39. Gathuru, E. M., and Mwangi, S. M. (1991). Bean anthracnose research in Kenya. In Proceedings of the first Pan-African working group meeting on anthracnose of beans. Ambo, Ethiopia (pp. 43-50).
- 40. Gill, S. S., and Tuteja, N. (2010). Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 48(12), 909-930.
- 41. Govindaraj, M., Vetriventhan, M., and Srinivasan, M. (2015). Importance of genetic diversity assessment in crop plants and its recent advances: an overview of its analytical perspectives. Genetics Research International, 2015.
- 42. Graham, P. H., and Ranalli, P. (1997). Common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Field Crops Research, 53(1-3), 131-146.
- 43. Grotto, D., Maria, L. S., Valentini, J., Paniz, C., Schmitt, G., Garcia, S. C., Pomblum, V. J., Rocha, J, B, T., and Farina, M. (2009). Importance of the lipid peroxidation biomarkers and methodological aspects for malondialdehyde quantification. Quimica Nova, 32(1), 169-174.
- 44. Gyang, P., Nyaboga, E., and Muge, E. (2017). Molecular Characterization of Common Bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) Genotypes Using Microsatellite Markers. Journal of Advances in Biology and Biotechnology, 13(2), 1–15.

- 45. Gyang, P. J. (2018). Molecular Characterization of Kenyan Common Bean Germplasm Using SSR and Peroxidase Gene Markers. Master of Science thesis, University of Nairobi, Kenya.
- 46. Harveson, R. M. (2009). Common bacterial blight of dry beans in Nebraska. NebGuide. University of Nebraska Extension Publication G, 1956.
- 47. Hodges, D. M., DeLong, J. M., Forney, C. F., and Prange, R. K. (1999). Improving the thiobarbituric acid-reactive-substances assay for estimating lipid peroxidation in plant tissues containing anthocyanin and other interfering compounds. Planta, 207(4), 604-611.
- 48. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 21 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA)
- 49. Ibrahim, M. H., and Jaafar, H. Z. (2012). Primary, secondary metabolites, hydrogen peroxide malondialdehyde and photosynthetic responses of *Orthosiphon stimaneus Benth*. to different irradiance levels. Molecules, 17(2), 1159-1176.
- 50. Idrees, M., and Irshad, M. (2014). Molecular markers in plants for analysis of genetic diversity: a review. European Academic Research, 2 (1), 1513-1540.
- 51. Islam, M., Lee, B. R., Park, S. H., La, V. H., Bae, D. W., and Kim, T. H. (2017). Cultivar variation in hormonal balance is a significant determinant of disease susceptibility to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *campestris* in *Brassica napus*. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8, 2121.
- 52. Jiang, G. L. (2013). Molecular markers and marker-assisted breeding in plants. Plant Breeding from Laboratories to Fields, 45-83.
- 53. Jones, A. L. (1999). Phaseolus bean: Post-harvest operations. AGSI/FAO: Mejia D. and Lewis B. Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT). pp, 1-24.

- 54. Kapil, R., P. Sharma, S.K. Sharma, O.P. Sharma, J.B. Dhar, and P.N. Sharma. 2011. Pathogenic and molecular variability in bean common mosaic virus infecting common bean in India. Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection 44(11): 1081-1092.
- 55. Katungi, E., Farrow, A., Chianu, J., Sperling, L., and Beebe, S. (2009). Common bean in Eastern and Southern Africa: a situation and outlook analysis. International Centre for Tropical Agriculture, 61, 1-44.
- 56. Katungi, E., Farrow, A., Mutuoki, T., Gebeyehu, S., Karanja, D., Alamayehu, F., Sperling, L., Beebe, S., Rubyogo, J.C., and Buruchara, R. (2010). Improving common bean productivity: An Analysis of socioeconomic factors in Ethiopia and Eastern Kenya. Baseline Report Tropical Legumes II. Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical-CIAT. Cali, Colombia.
- 57. Karavina, C., Mandumbu, R., Parwada, C., and Zivenge, E. (2011). Epiphytic survival of *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli* (EF Sm). Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences, 9(2), 1161-1168.
- 58. Kimani, P. M., Buruchara, R., Ampofo, K., Pyndji, M., Chirwa, R. M., and Kirkby, R. (2001, May). Breeding beans for smallholder farmers in Eastern, Central, and Southern Africa: Constraints, achievements, and potential. In PABRA Millennium Workshop (p. 11).
- 59. Kimani, P.M., R. Buruchara, J. Muthamia, N. Mbikayi, A. Asfaw, A. Namayanja, G. Rachier, R. Otsyula, and L. Lunze. (2005a). Selection on marketable bean lines with improved resistance to angular leaf spot, root rots and yield for smallholder farmers in ECA. Presented at the Second Biotechnology, Breeding and Seed Systems Conference, January 2005, Rockefeller Foundation, Nairobi, Kenya, pp. 23-27.

- 60. Kimani, P.M., R. Buruchara, K. Ampofo, M. Pyndji, R. Chirwa, and R. Kirkby. (2005b). Breeding beans for smallholder farmers in Eastern, Central and Southern Africa: Constraints, achievements and potential. In: Pan-African Bean Research Network (PABRA) Millennium Workshop, 28 May-1 June, Arusha, Tanzania, pp. 11-28.
- 61. Kimani, P.M., S. Omondi, and Z. Mairura. (2012). Market and value chain mapping for dry beans in Kenya. A report submitted to Kilimo Trust, p. 87.
- 62. Kimani, P., Kamundia, D. K., Narla, R. D., and Mwang'ombe, A. W. (2014). An integrated seed delivery system and seed research in Kenya: Case studies of pigeon pea, onion and dry bean. Seed Systems, Science and Policy in East and Central Africa, 73.
- 63. Kiryowa, M.J., A. Ebinu, V. Kyaligonza, S.T. Nkalubo, P. Paparu, C. Mukankusi, and P. Tukamuhabwa. (2016). Pathogenic variation of *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum* causing anthracnose of beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) in Uganda. International Journal of Phytopathology, 5:89-98.
- 64. Kouam, E. B., Ndomou, M., Gouado, I., and Pasquet, R. S. (2017). Assessment of the genetic diversity of cultivated common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) from Cameroon and Kenya using allozymes markers. Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences, 5(1), 87-97.
- 65. Kulbat, K. (2016). The role of phenolic compounds in plant resistance. Biotechnology and Food Science, 80(2), 97-108.
- 66. Kumar, V., Sharma, S., Kero, S., Sharma, S., Sharma, A. K., Kumar, M., and Bhat, K. V. (2008). Assessment of genetic diversity in Common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) germplasm using amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP). Scientia Horticulturae, 116(2), 138-143.

- 67. Kumar, N. S., and Gurusubramanian, G. (2011). Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers and its applications. Science Vision, 11(3), 116–124.
- 68. Leitich, R. K., Arinaitwe, W., Mukoye, B., Omayio, D. O., Osogo, A. K., Were, H. K., and Abang, M. M. (2016). Mapping of angular leaf spot disease hotspot areas in western Kenya towards its management. American Journal of Applied Scientific Research, 2(6), 75-81.
- 69. Leterme, P., and Muũoz, L. C. (2002). Factors influencing pulse consumption in Latin America. British Journal of Nutrition, 88(S3), 251-254.
- 70. Li, G., and Quiros, C. F. (2001). Sequence-related amplified polymorphism (SRAP), a new marker system based on a simple PCR reaction: its application to mapping and gene tagging in Brassica. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 103(2-3), 455-461.
- 71. Li, G., McVetty, P. B., Quiros, C. F., and Andersen, S. B. (2013). SRAP molecular marker technology in plant science. Plant Breeding from Laboratories to Fields, 23-43.
- 72. Li, X. Y., Li, J., Zhao, Z. J., Yang, F., Fu, Q. W., Liu, H. S., Wang, D. D., Yang, Y. C. and Wang, R. Y. (2014). Sequence-related amplified polymorphism (SRAP) for studying genetic diversity and population structure of plants and other living organisms: a protocol. Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences, 24(5), 1478-1486.
- 73. Liu, K., and Muse, S. V. (2005). PowerMarker: an integrated analysis environment for genetic marker analysis. Bioinformatics, 21(9), 2128-2129.
- 74. Liu, F., Shi, H.Z., Guo, Q.S., Lv, F., Yu, Y.B., Lv, L.L., Shen, W.B., Zhao, W.H. and Zhang, M.M., (2015). Analysis of the genetic diversity and population structure of Perinereis aibuhitensis in China using TRAP and AFLP markers. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology, 59, 194-203.

- 75. Lunze, L., Abang, M. M., Buruchara, R., Ugen, M. A., Nabahungu, N. L., Rachier, G. O., Ngongo, M. and Rao, I. (2012). Integrated soil fertility management in bean-based cropping systems of Eastern, Central and Southern Africa. In Soil Fertility Improvement and Integrated Nutrient Management-A Global Perspective. IntechOpen.
- 76. Luo, C., He, X. H., Chen, H., Ou, S. J., and Gao, M. P. (2010). Analysis of diversity and relationships among mango cultivars using Start Codon Targeted (SCoT) markers. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology, 38(6), 1176-1184.
- 77. Mahgoub, H. A. M., Eisa, G. S. A., and Youssef, M. A. H. (2015). Molecular, biochemical and anatomical analysis of some potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) cultivars growing in Egypt. Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, 13(1), 39-49.
- 78. Mahjbi, A., Baraket, G., Oueslati, A., and Salhi-Hannachi, A. (2015). Start Codon Targeted (SCoT) markers provide new insights into the genetic diversity analysis and characterization of Tunisian Citrus species. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology, 61, 390-398.
- 79. Magbanua, Z. V., De Moraes, C. M., Brooks, T. D., Williams, W. P., and Luthe, D. S. (2007). Is catalase activity one of the factors associated with maize resistance to *Aspergillus flavus*. Molecular Plant-microbe Interactions, 20(6), 697-706.
- 80. Marquez, M. L., Terán, H., and Singh, S. P. (2007). Selecting common bean with genes of different evolutionary origins for resistance to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *phaseoli*. Crop Science, 47(4), 1367-1374.
- 81. Makini, F. W. (1995). Bean production and constraints in Kenya with emphasis on diseases. In Breeding for disease resistance with emphasis on durability. Proceedings of a regional workshop for eastern, central and southern Africa, held at Njoro, Kenya, October 2-6,

1994. (pp. 104-109). Landbouwuniversiteit Wageningen (Wageningen Agricultural University).

- Messina, V. (2014). Nutritional and health benefits of dried beans. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 100(1), 437S-442S.
- 83. Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Gollery, M., and Van Breusegem, F. (2004). Reactive oxygen gene network of plants. Trends in Plant Science, 9(10), 490-498.
- 84. Mkandawire, A. B., Mabagala, R. B., Guzmán, P., Gepts, P., and Gilbertson, R. L. (2004). Genetic diversity and pathogenic variation of common blight bacteria (*Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *phaseoli* and *X. campestris* pv. *phaseoli* var. *fuscans*) suggests pathogen coevolution with the common bean. Phytopathology, 94(6), 593-603.
- 85. Muthangya P. K. (1982). Bacterial blights of beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) caused by *Xanthomonas phaseoli* (Smith) Dowson, and X. *Phaseoli* var. fuscans* (Burk) Dowson in Kenya. Master of Science thesis, University of Nairobi, Kenya.
- 86. Mutuku, J. M., Wamonje, F., Djikeng, A., Carr, J., and Harvey, J. J. (2016). Modeling and manipulation of plant-aphid interactions: A new avenue for sustainable disease management of beans in Africa. Poster. Nairobi, Kenya: International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI).
- 87. Mwaipopo, B., Nchimbi-Msolla, S., Njau, P., Tairo, F., William, M., Binagwa, P., Kweka, E., Kilango, M., Mbanzibwa, D. (2017). Viruses infecting common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) in Tanzania: A review on molecular characterization, detection and disease management options. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 12(18), 1486-1500.
- 88. Mwang'ombe, A. W., Kimani, P. M., and Kimenju, J. W. (1994). Evaluation of advanced bean lines for resistance to 6 major diseases in Kenya. In A paper presented during the workshop for Bean Research Collaborators. Thika, Kenya.

- 89. Nadeem, M.A., Nawaz, M.A., Shahid, M.Q., Doğan, Y., Comertpay, G., Yıldız, M., Hatipoğlu, R., Ahmad, F., Alsaleh, A., Labhane, N. and Özkan, H. (2018). DNA molecular markers in plant breeding: current status and recent advancements in genomic selection and genome editing. Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment, 32(2), pp.261-285.
- 90. Nair, A. G., Vidya, P., and Mohan, C. (2016). Analysis of genetic variability in sweet potato accessions using Start Codon Targeted (SCoT) polymorphism. International Journal of Biotechnology and Biochemistry, 12(2), 111-121.
- 91. Nakano, Y., and Asada, K. (1981). Hydrogen peroxide is scavenged by ascorbate-specific peroxidase in spinach chloroplasts. Plant and Cell Physiology, 22(5), 867-880.
- 92. Nicholson, R. L., and Hammerschmidt, R. (1992). Phenolic compounds and their role in disease resistance. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 30(1), 369-389.
- 93. Nyakio, M. K., Steele, K., and Palapala, V. A. P. (2014). Genetic diversity of dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris L.*) accessions of Kenya using AFLP markers. African Journal of Horticultural Science, 8(1).
- 94. OECD (2016). Common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.), in Safety Assessment of Transgenic Organisms in the Environment, Volume 6: OECD Consensus Documents, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- 95. Okii, D., Tukamuhabwa, P., Kami, J., Namayanja, A., Paparu, P., Ugen, M., and Gepts, P. (2014). The genetic diversity and population structure of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L) germplasm in Uganda. African Journal of Biotechnology, 13(29).
- 96. Okumu, O., Muthomi, J., Narla, R., Nderitu, J., Lauren, J., and Ojiem, J. (2017). Evaluation of Common Bean Production Systems and Fertilizer use in Nandi South. Proceedings of 1st Annual Innovation Research Symposium, 13, 154–165.

- 97. Opio, A.F., Allen, D.J. and Teri, J.M. 1994. Evaluation of inoculation methods and inoculum concentration for *Xathomonas campestris* pv. *phaseoli*. In: Annual report of the Bean Improvement Cooperative (USA). 37th ed. pp. 223-224.
- 98. Osdaghi, E., Alizadeh, A., Shams-bakhsh, M., and Reza Lak, M. (2009). Evaluation of common bean lines for their reaction to the common bacterial blight pathogen. Phytopathologia Mediterranea, 48(3), 461–468.
- 99. Paliwal, R., Singh, R., Singh, A. K., Kumar, S., Kumar, A., and Majumdar, R. S. (2013). Molecular characterization of Giloe (*Tinospora cordifolia Willd. Miers ex Hook. F. and Thoms.*) accessions using start codon targeted (SCoT) markers. International Journal Medicinal and Aromatic Plants, 3(4), 413-422.
- 100. Pakseresht, F., Talebi, R., and Karami, E. (2013). Comparative assessment of ISSR, DAMD and SCoT markers for evaluation of genetic diversity and conservation of landrace chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) genotypes collected from north-west of Iran. Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants, 19(4), 563-574.
- Pastor-Corrales, M.A. 2005. Anthracnose. pp. 25–27. In H.F. Schwartz, J.R. Steadman, and R.L. Forster (ed.) Compendium of bean diseases. 2nd ed. APS Press, St. Paul, MN.
- 102. Peakall, R. and Smouse P.E. (2012) GenAlEx 6.5: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research -an update. Bioinformatics 28, 2537-2539.
- 103. Pheirim, R. R., Niyaria, R., and Singh, K. (2017). Heterosis prediction through molecular markers. J. for researchers, 1 (1), 45-50.
- 104. Popović, T., Starović, M., Aleksić, G., Živković, S., Jošić, D., Ignjatov, M., and Milovanović, P. (2012). Response of different beans against common bacterial blight disease

caused by *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *phaseoli*. Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science, 18(5), 701-707.

- 105. Pritchard, J. K., Stephens, M., and Donnelly, P. (2000). Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics, 155(2), 945-959.
- 106. Pritchard, J. K., Wen, W., & Falush, D. (2003). Documentation for STRUCTURE software: Version 2.
- 107. Que, Y., Pan, Y., Lu, Y., Yang, C., Yang, Y., Huang, N., and Xu, L. (2014). Genetic analysis of diversity within a Chinese local sugarcane germplasm based on start codon targeted polymorphism. BioMed Research International, 2014.
- Rajesh, M. K., Sabana, A. A., Rachana, K. E., Rahman, S., Jerard, B. A., and Karun, A. (2015). Genetic relationship and diversity among coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) accessions revealed through SCoT analysis. Biotech, 5(6), 999-1006.
- 109. Rambaut, A. (2009). FigTree v1. 4.2. http://tree. bio. ed. ac. uk/software/figtree/.
- 110. Razvi, S. M., Bhat, M. A., Ahmad, M., and Khan, M. H. (2013). Genetic diversity studies in common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) using molecular markers. African Journal of Biotechnology, 12(51), 7031-7037.
- 111. Rodríguez De Luque, J. J., and Creamer, B. (2014). Principal constraints and trends for common bean production and commercialization; establishing priorities for future research. Agronomía Colombiana, 32(3), 423-431.
- 112. Romero-Arenas, O., Damián-Huato, M. A., Rivera-Tapia, J. A., Báez-Simón, A., Huerta-Lara, M., and Cabrera-Huerta, E. (2013). The nutritional value of beans (*Phaseolus*

vulgaris L.) and its importance for feeding of rural communities in Puebla, Mexico. International Research Journal of Biological Sciences, 2 (8), 59-65.

- 113. Rosales, M. A., Ocampo, E., Rodríguez-Valentín, R., Olvera-Carrillo, Y., Acosta-Gallegos, J., and Covarrubias, A. A. (2012). Physiological analysis of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) cultivars uncovers characteristics related to terminal drought resistance. Plant physiology and biochemistry, 56, 24-34.
- 114. Satya, P., Karan, M., Jana, S., Mitra, S., Sharma, A., Karmakar, P. G., and Ray, D. P. (2015). Start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism reveals genetic diversity in wild and domesticated populations of ramie (*Boehmeria nivea* L. *Gaudich.*), a premium textile fiber producing species. Metagene, 3, 62-70.
- 115. Shahbazi, H., Aminian, H., Sahebani, N., and Halterman, D. A. (2010). Biochemical evaluation of resistance responses of potato to different isolates of *Alternaria solani*. Phytopathology, 100(5), 454-459.
- 116. Sharma, P., Jha, A. B., Dubey, R. S., and Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. Journal of Botany, 2012.
- 117. Schneider, K. A., Brothers, M. E., and Kelly, J. D. (1997). Marker-assisted selection to improve drought resistance in common bean. Crop Science, 37(1), 51-60.
- 118. Siddique, Z., Akhtar, K. P., Hameed, A., Sarwar, N., Imran-Ul-Haq, and Khan, S. A. (2014). Biochemical alterations in leaves of resistant and susceptible cotton genotypes infected systemically by cotton leaf curl Burewala virus. Journal of Plant Interactions, 9(1), 702-711.

- 119. Silva-Gomes, S., Decout, A., and Nigou, J. (2014). Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Encyclopedia of Inflammatory Diseases, 1-16.
- Singh, S. P., Nodari, R., and Gepts, P. (1991). Genetic diversity in cultivated common bean: I. Allozymes. Crop Science, 31(1), 19-23.
- Singh, S. P., and Miklas, P. N. (2015). Breeding common bean for resistance to common blight: A review. Crop Science, 55(3), 971–984.
- 122. Sulman, M., Fox, G., Osman, A., Inkerman, A., Williams, P., and Michalowitz, M. (2001). Relationship between total peroxidase activity and susceptibility to black point in mature grain of some barley cultivars. In Proceeding of the 10th Australian Barley Technical Symposium.
- 123. Svetleva, D., Pereira, G., Carlier, J., Cabrita, L., Leitão, J., and Genchev, D. (2006). Molecular characterization of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. genotypes included in Bulgarian collection by ISSR and AFLPTM analyses. Scientia Horticulturae, 109(3), 198-206.
- 124. Varshney, R. K., Mahendar, T., Aggarwal, R. K., and Börner, A. (2007). Genetic molecular markers in plants: development and applications. In Genomics-assisted crop improvement (pp. 13-29). Springer, Dordrecht.
- 125. Velasquez, V. L. B., and Gepts, P. (1994). RFLP diversity of Common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) in its centres of origin. Genome, 37(2), 256-263.
- 126. Wagara, I. N., Mwang'ombe, A. W., Kimenju, J. W., Buruchara, R. A., Jamnadass, R., and Majiwa, P. A. O. (2004). Genetic Diversity of *Phaeoisariopsis griseola* in Kenya as Revealed by AFLP and Group-specific Primers. Journal of Phytopathology, *152*(4), 235-242.

- Wortmann, C. S. (1998). Atlas of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) production in Africa (No. 297). CIAT.
- 128. Wortmann, C. S., Brink, M., and Belay, G. (2006). *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. (common bean). Record from PROTA4U. *PROTA* (Plant Resources of Tropical Africa/Ressources végétales de l'Afrique tropicale).
- 129. Xanthopoulou, A., Ganopoulos, I., Kalivas, A., Nianiou-Obeidat, I., Ralli, P., Moysiadis, T., Tsaftaris, A., Madesis, P. (2015). Comparative analysis of genetic diversity in Greek Genebank collection of summer squash (*Cucurbita pepo*) landraces using start codon targeted (SCoT) polymorphism and ISSR markers. Australian Journal of Crop Science, 9(1), 14.
- 130. Xiong, F., Zhong, R., Han, Z., Jiang, J., He, L., Zhuang, W., and Tang, R. (2011). Start codon targeted polymorphism for evaluation of functional genetic variation and relationships in cultivated peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) genotypes. Molecular Biology Reports, 38(5), 3487-3494.
- Yearley, S. (2012). African seed enterprises: sowing the seeds of food security, edited by Paul Van Mele, Jeffery W Bentley and Robert G Guéi. CABI
- 132. Zargar, S. M., Farhat, S., Mahajan, R., Bhakhri, A., and Sharma, A. (2016). Unraveling the efficiency of RAPD and SSR markers in diversity analysis and population structure estimation in common bean. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 23(1), 139-149.
- 133. Zhang, J., Xie, W., Wang, Y., and Zhao, X. (2015). Potential of start codon targeted (SCoT) markers to estimate genetic diversity and relationships among chinese *Elymus sibiricus* accessions. Molecules, 20(4), 5987-6001.